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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madame

          3  Chair and members of the Consumer Affairs Committee,

          4  and people who are interested in movie prices in New

          5  York City.

          6                 I believe that it is time for New

          7  York City Theater owners to stop the movie madness.

          8  By raising ticket prices to $9.50, they have priced

          9  many New Yorkers, literally, out of the market.  The

         10  Council's own investigation shows that a family of

         11  four could spend as much as $64 on tickets, popcorn

         12  and drinks. For families living on a $30,000 a year

         13  budget, the cost of a night out at the movies would

         14  cost a day's wage after taxes, rent and utilities.

         15  New Yorkers now pay the highest ticket prices in the

         16  nation.  Going to the movies used to bring New

         17  Yorkers of all socioeconomic groups together, now

         18  the only way for most New Yorkers to see a movie is

         19  on television.

         20                 New Yorkers should be able to go to

         21  the movies without making a star salary.  In 1998

         22  the Justice Department approved the merger between

         23  Loew's Theaters and Cineplex Odeon. That gave the

         24  company control of approximately 46 percent of

         25  Manhattan movie theaters.  This is an injustice to
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          2  all New Yorkers.

          3                 I'm here today to urge the United

          4  States Department of Justice and the State Attorney

          5  General to begin to seek things right by reopening

          6  the Consent Decree.  Granting a Consent Decree

          7  serves the public interest, the only thing served by

          8  theater owners in over priced popcorn and blatant

          9  self- interest.  The least theater owners could do

         10  is to offer discount matinees to New Yorkers of all

         11  ages.  That Consent Decree was entered into under

         12  the assumption that the New Yorkers would be

         13  protected, the theater owners, themselves said at

         14  the time, and that was only one year ago, May of

         15  1998, when this Consent Decree was entered into, it

         16  was entered into on behalf of the public, on behalf

         17  of New Yorkers, on behalf of the people, not on

         18  behalf of the movie owners, who said at the time

         19  that prices would not go up by reason of that

         20  Consent Decree.  As a matter of fact, prices have,

         21  indeed, gone up.

         22                 So I'm here today to ask all New

         23  Yorkers to stay away from the movies on Friday

         24  nights, or at the very least, don't buy the

         25  refreshments that are over priced and ridiculously
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          2  priced to the extent that you could buy five times

          3  as much goods outside of the same goods that they

          4  sell inside.  This will prevent movie owners from

          5  having big opening weekends and is sure to get the

          6  attention of the entire industry.  New Yorkers love

          7  the movies, we love the stars, and we support the

          8  industry.  More movies were shot in New York City

          9  last year than anytime in history, but at the rate

         10  we're going, more New Yorkers will be served as

         11  extras than will be actually in the theaters.

         12                 So there is much that we can do, and

         13  some of the people who I met on the streets are here

         14  today, some of them who said they haven't gone to

         15  movies for years since the prices went up, are not

         16  here today.  Many New Yorkers just can't afford what

         17  was once the American pass time, and that is just a

         18  shame.

         19                 So we will hear, we take some

         20  testimony today, and what I hope the Committee will

         21  do, will pass out the two resolutions that are

         22  before us, and perhaps get the attention of the

         23  United States Attorney's Office, as well as the New

         24  York State Attorney General's Office to reopen that

         25  Consent Decree, which were supposed to keep prices
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          2  down and make movies available for the average

          3  person.  And if that doesn't work, then the thing

          4  that will work will be economic pressure.

          5                 Now there is a lot we can do.  We had

          6  video companies all over the City that said that

          7  they would reduce prices, prices of videos of Friday

          8  nights. We have an awful lot of free entertainment

          9  available on Friday nights.  And one of the things

         10  that I would like to consider, based upon what this

         11  Committee does, is to publish those video companies

         12  and those video stores that will reduce their prices

         13  for Friday nights, publish those forms of

         14  entertainment that are available as alternatives for

         15  Friday nights, and publish the fact that if you have

         16  to go to the movies on Friday nights, don't buy that

         17  over priced merchandise and food and popcorn and

         18  soda, inside, which only adds to the outrage of the

         19  price of $9.50 to see a movie.

         20                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Speaker.  I would like to read an opening

         23  statement.  Today the Committee on Consumer Affairs

         24  is holding a hearing on two resolutions dealing with

         25  the recent movie ticket price increases at the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  Loew's Cineplex Theaters.  Thanks to the enormous

          3  trend towards consolidation in this industry, New

          4  York City is now home to the highest movie ticket

          5  prices in the country.  Less than one year ago a

          6  merger between Sony's Loew's Theaters and Cineplex

          7  Odeon occurred making the resulting company the

          8  largest movie chain in the country.  This Chain,

          9  Loew's Cineplex, controls almost half the theaters

         10  in Manhattan.

         11                 As we have seen in this Committee, in

         12  so many industries, too much consolidation usually

         13  hurts consumers.  It reduces options and leaves

         14  consumers at the mercy of a handful of operators who

         15  feel much freer to raise prices.  This is what

         16  appears to have happened in the movie business, in

         17  fact, within one day after Loew's Cineplex completed

         18  the deal to get rid of 14 theaters in Manhattan as

         19  required by the Justice Department, a condition of

         20  the merger, they raised their Manhattan prices by

         21  $.50.

         22                 Let me tell you something that the

         23  small independent movie theater owners in Manhattan

         24  relayed to us.  He would not come into testify

         25  because he is hoping that the "greed" of the big
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          2  chain theaters, who he says, are making money hand

          3  over fist, will eventually benefit his theater,

          4  which is trying to hold steady to a price that is

          5  now almost 20 percent lower than Loew's Cineplex

          6  prices.  I can only hope that consolidation in this

          7  industry does not eventually wipe out these

          8  independent businesses.

          9                 So, today, we are asking the

         10  Department of Justice and the State Attorney General

         11  to take another look at the consolidation it has

         12  allowed in the New York City movie theater industry.

         13    We are also asking New York consumers to consider

         14  all that New York has to offer in the way of

         15  alternatives, including some of these independent

         16  theaters who are trying to hold prices down, when it

         17  comes to spending their money on entertainment.

         18                 And with that I would like to

         19  introduce my colleagues, to my extreme left is

         20  Council Member John Sabini, Council Member Annette

         21  Robinson, Council Member Howard Lasher, Jim Caras,

         22  Counsel to the Committee, and, of course, our own

         23  Speaker Peter Vallone, Barbara Turkowitz, Policy,

         24  and Bernie Spitzer, Press.

         25                 With that I would like to call on
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          2  Ivory (sic) Van DeBoom and Benjamin Smyser.

          3                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  My name, is actually,

          4  Tracy Van DeBoom.  I'm a junior, English and

          5  Philosophy major, at Coe College in Cedar Rapids,

          6  Iowa.  But since February, I have been spending my

          7  spring semester in Manhattan attending a multitude

          8  of cultural events.

          9                 There are unique thinks in this City

         10  and I want to experience them all.  This includes

         11  the desire to see films and movies that I will not

         12  be able to see when I return to Iowa next week.

         13  Since arriving in New York, I have seen three

         14  independent movies, between $5.00 and $8.00, and one

         15  major motion picture for $9.50.  What prevented me

         16  from seeing more films is the cost of the theater.

         17  Movie going is an experience, the previews, sticky

         18  floors and pricey concessions, it is a Friday and

         19  Saturday night event.

         20                 What I'm here to say though, is that

         21  the increase in New York movie prices is

         22  unacceptable.  Going to the cinema is ritualistic,

         23  we're hooked ritually, addicted, and theater

         24  corporations know this.  If we allow theaters to

         25  increase prices now, yet, keep packing into cinemas
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          2  week after week, we give theaters the go ahead to

          3  keep increasing movie prices.  We, as consumers,

          4  blindly handle their more cash for more

          5  entertainment, when will such growth inflations

          6  stop?

          7                 Regretfully, the increase in movie

          8  ticket prices has limited the number of movies I

          9  have been able to afford in New York City.  I will

         10  go back to Iowa and wait for movies to be released

         11  on the video, $2.00 opposed to $9.50.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Tracy, thank you

         14  very much for coming today.  Do you know what the

         15  price of movies are in Iowa?

         16                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  Oh, roughly $6.50 to

         17  $7.00.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Okay, and how long

         19  have you been in New York City?

         20                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  Since February.

         21                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  And you will be

         22  going back to Iowa?

         23                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  Next week.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Are you on an

         25  allowance?
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          2                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  I have college loans.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  College loans,

          4  okay. We will leave it at that.

          5                 MS. VANDEBOOM:  Okay, thank you.

          6                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Benjamin, just

          7  before you testify, I met you in front of a theater

          8  about a month or so ago, wasn't it, Benjamin?

          9                 MR. SMYSER:  Yes.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  And you then

         11  explained to me some of the problems of living on a

         12  fixed allowance and trying to go to movies; is that

         13  correct?

         14                 MR. SMYSER:  Yes, that is correct.

         15                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  Okay, so why don't

         16  you tell the whole Committee that?

         17                 MR. SMYSER:  Okay.  Good morning, my

         18  name is Benjamin Smyser.  I'm a seventh grade

         19  student at the Abraham Joshua Heshel School, and I'm

         20  basically your average teen.  I would like to talk

         21  about the effect of high movie prices on young

         22  teenagers in my neighborhood.

         23                 The average kid in my class isn't

         24  getting all that much allowance, because we're over

         25  the age of 12, we have to pay the adult price, which
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          2  is almost $10.00.  Now, I get $5.00 per week in

          3  allowance, which means I can buy a ticket every

          4  other week, but I can't get anything else, and that

          5  includes soda or popcorn.  This upsets me, what

          6  upsets me even more is that I'm lucky, there are

          7  hundreds of kids in my neighborhood living no more

          8  than a block away or maybe even next door, who

          9  couldn't afford to go to the movies, even once a

         10  month.  In my school, only the very rich among us

         11  can go to the movies whenever they want, this really

         12  upsets me. Plus, just think about what the poor

         13  people must think of this, it must seem to them as

         14  if there are two cities, one city for the rich, who

         15  have everything, and one city for the poor people.

         16                 They live side by side but their

         17  paths rarely cross. This probably causes great

         18  tension between the people.  It contributes to

         19  divisiveness in our City.  Going to the movies has a

         20  lot of meaning for young, teenagers like me, because

         21  it is one of the few things that we're allowed to do

         22  on our own.  We like to see movies and we like to

         23  talk about them.  If you can't see a movie, you

         24  don't have anything to say and you're not in the

         25  group discussion.
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          2                 In short, movie owners haven't kept

          3  their promise, tickets are more expensive now than

          4  ever before, instead of cheaper, and it's taking its

          5  toll on the average kid in the City.

          6                 Thanks for giving me a chance to

          7  express my feelings.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          9  At what age, Benjamin, did you say that you have to

         10  pay full price?

         11                 MR. SMYSER:  Over the age of 12, I

         12  think 12 and older.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Really?

         14  Well, we have to do something about that, so

         15  Benjamin and Tracy can go to the movies and enjoy

         16  the movies.  Thank you so much.

         17                 SPEAKER VALLONE:  I just want to

         18  compliment you both for coming, because it is very,

         19  very important that you make yourselves, not only

         20  available, but that you testified so eloquently and

         21  you represent, pretty much, the average young person

         22  who would like to go to the movies, and simply can't

         23  afford it. And that doesn't count the number of

         24  young persons and the number of older persons who

         25  cannot ever afford to go to the movies, and so we
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          2  want to thank you very, very much.

          3                 And your testimony is now part of our

          4  permanent record here, and you might just be able to

          5  be the voices that will start something that will

          6  actually make movies available again for everyone.

          7  So thanks very much for coming.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.  I

          9  would like to call Robert Sunshine.

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  My name is Robert

         11  Sunshine.  I am the Executive Director of the

         12  Metropolitan Theater Owners of New York City, and,

         13  also, the Executive Director of the National

         14  Association of Theater Owners of New York State.

         15                 I'm sorry I had to follow those two

         16  youngsters, who just made their statements.  But,

         17  Madam Chairman, I'm here really in two capacities

         18  today.  I have a prepared statement that I would

         19  like to make as a representative of NATO of New York

         20  State, and, also, the MTO.  And then following that,

         21  I also have a statement that I would like to make in

         22  another capacity, and if there are any questions

         23  that anyone would ask at the end, I will do my best

         24  to answer them.

         25                 We thank the Committee for allowing
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          2  us to participate in these hearings and testify on

          3  behalf of our associations, which again are,

          4  National Association of Theater Owners of New York

          5  State, we represent theaters throughout the State of

          6  New York, and the Metropolitan Theater Owners, which

          7  represents theaters within the City of New York.

          8                 With regard to Resolution 650, asking

          9  New Yorkers to express their unhappiness over the

         10  recent movie theater ticket price increases, we are

         11  opposed to any government agency urging our

         12  customers to avoid attending our movies, this is not

         13  the function of the government.  More so and more

         14  importantly, our Trade Association does not and

         15  never will discuss admission prices at any of our

         16  meetings.  As you well know, these discussions,

         17  talks on admission prices are in violation of the

         18  Anti- Trust Laws and this is something that never

         19  comes up at any meetings.  Anything with regard to

         20  admission prices are handled strictly by the

         21  individual theater owners or circuits on their own.

         22  Likewise, this Association cannot respond to

         23  Resolution 651, which calls upon the U.S. Department

         24  of Justice and the New York State Attorney General

         25  to seek to reopen the Consent Decree authorizing the
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          2   '98 merger of Loew's Theaters and Cineplex Odeon.

          3                 I feel that these are issues that

          4  should be handled and addressed directly by Loew's

          5  Cineplex, and I'm sorry that they're not here to

          6  make statements with regard to those.

          7                 Prior to Mr. Vallone leaving, I just

          8  wanted to comment that I'm happy that you did

          9  qualify one of your statements, when you said, if

         10  you're not going to stay away from the movies on

         11  Friday, at least, don't buy concession, so I'm happy

         12  that you did qualify that.

         13                 Madam Chairman, in addition to my

         14  role as Executive Director of these two

         15  Associations, I am also the publisher of one of the

         16  leading monthly trade magazines for the motion

         17  picture industry.  I also own and operate two

         18  conventions for the motion picture industry, one in

         19  Amsterdam in Europe, one in Hong Kong in Asia, and I

         20  also manage and coordinate a convention called, Show

         21  East in Atlantic City.  I think that because of my

         22  capacity in those areas I'm qualified to respond to

         23  some of the things that was said here today, and to

         24  Resolution 650 and 651.

         25                 First thing I would like to do, is I
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          2  would like to just correct a statement that you

          3  made.  You had indicated that following the merger

          4  of Loew's and Cineplex that it was the largest

          5  theater company in the United States, that is not

          6  correct.  The largest theater company in the United

          7  States is Regal Cinemas out of Knoxville.  They

          8  presently operate and own somewhere in the area of

          9  3,700 screens and are promptly building more and

         10  more.  They have a schedule to build 2,000 screens

         11  more over the next two- year period.  Loew's is

         12  presently either second or third.

         13                 Also, another statement that you made

         14  about theater circuits making money hands over

         15  fists, I would just ask the Council to take a look

         16  at some of the public reports, because these are

         17  public companies of the United Artists, of AMC, of

         18  Carmike (phonetic), which are some of the largest

         19  theater chains in the United States and take a look

         20  at their financials, these companies are not making

         21  money hands over fists, and there are reasons for it

         22  and I will address some of them.

         23                 First, with regard to Resolution 651

         24  calling on the Department of Justice to reopen the

         25  Consent Decree, in my opinion, the way it was
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          2  presented by Mr. Vallone, it's then insinuating that

          3  competition is being stifled in the City of New

          4  York, or this company now, which is now known as

          5  Loew's Cineplex entertainment holds a monopoly on

          6  Manhattan movie theaters.  I would like to draw to

          7  the attention of the Committee the following

          8  information:

          9                 The theaters that are operated by

         10  Loew's Cineplex Entertainment, the new company, in

         11  the Borough of Manhattan, only account for 35

         12  percent of the first run screens in Manhattan, that

         13  is 55 out of 157 screens.  Prior to the merger of

         14  Loew's Cineplex in '98, these two companies operated

         15  90 screens, so now here, one year after the merger

         16  they are literally operating now close to 35

         17  screens, I'm sorry, 45 screens less.  They have gone

         18  from 57 percent of the first run theaters to now 35

         19  percent.  In effect, Loew's Theaters, right now,

         20  there is literally one less screen that Loew's

         21  Theaters now holds prior to the merger.  I don't

         22  know how anyone can call this a monopoly.  As you

         23  referred to in your comments, Loew's Theaters and

         24  Cineplex upon their merger had to agree to a Consent

         25  Decree which indicated that they would divest of 13
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          2  theaters totalling approximately 35 screens in the

          3  City of New York.  There has been a divesture of

          4  that.

          5                 What was once a marketplace that was

          6  controlled predominantly by three circuits, Loew's,

          7  Cineplex, and United Artist, is now a marketplace

          8  that is not controlled any longer just by these

          9  three.  Loew's Cineplex is operating, as I said,

         10  literally 45 screens less.

         11                 2.  The United Artist has opened up a

         12  new theater on Union Square on 14th Street.  This

         13  has become, on various weeks it varies, but it has

         14  become one of the largest grossing theaters, not

         15  only in New York, but also in the United States.

         16                 Clearview Cinemas, which no one heard

         17  of a year ago, is now presently operating 35 screens

         18  in New York.

         19                 AMC will be opening up shortly, 25

         20  screens on 42nd Street, and Regal Cinemas, as you

         21  well know, has several lease assigned and they are

         22  hoping to build several theaters in the City of New

         23  York.

         24                 In effect what was once a territory

         25  that was dominated by three players, is now a
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          2  territory that is going to be dominated by five

          3  players.  Loew's Cineplex, which this resolution

          4  calls for now, to open the Consent Decree, is wrong,

          5  it's erroneous, it is not a monopoly, they are

          6  operating less screens today than they did one year

          7  ago.

          8                 Most of you know that the major movie

          9  for the summer season is Star Wars.  It has been

         10  getting a lot of publicity, everywhere you go,

         11  everywhere you turn, people are talking about Star

         12  Wars.  I think it's especially noteworthy, that at

         13  this time I mention that as of one week ago, only

         14  two theaters in the City of New York were booked to

         15  play Star Wars.  Now although that might change

         16  before the movie opens, at this point now, the

         17  Ziegfeld Theater, which is operated by Clearview

         18  Cinemas will be playing it, and United Artists at

         19  their 14th Street Theater, Union Square, will be

         20  playing it.  As of one week ago, Loew's Theaters did

         21  not even have a booking for this movie.  Is that a

         22  monopoly?  When the biggest theater of the season is

         23  coming into this City and they don't even have a

         24  print of it.

         25                 Admission prices are higher in New
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          2  York City than any other city in the United States.

          3  We certainly acknowledge that, it's no secret, we

          4  realize it.  But are you also aware that prices have

          5  just gone up in Los Angeles now, a dollar at all AMC

          6  Theaters.  Why are prices the highest in New York

          7  City?  I think you have to go further than just

          8  looking at people raising prices. You have got to

          9  look at what rents are in New York City, you have

         10  got to look at what commercial rent taxes are in New

         11  York City, you have got to look at labor, what we

         12  pay for labor, you must look at permits that we do

         13  to operate, licensing fees.  All of you are all so

         14  familiar with the ADA.  It's unbelievable the amount

         15  of money that it is costing theaters to upgrade to

         16  comply, this is something that we want to do, we

         17  want our theaters to be able to have the disabled

         18  come, this is not something that we're fighting in

         19  any way, but the costs are horrendous for doing

         20  this.  And I think things like this have to be

         21  looked into.

         22                 I know that there will be someone

         23  else that will be testifying following me, who owns

         24  movie theaters and operates movie theaters, and I'm

         25  hoping that he will address in his remarks, as I'm
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          2  sure he will, the situations and the deals that are

          3  made with the film companies, the type of film

          4  rentals that have to be paid, and that film

          5  companies are literally charging a fortune for us to

          6  operate our theaters.  We don't own the pictures

          7  that we show, we're simply leasing them, and the

          8  terms that we're leasing them are just horrendous.

          9  Ticket prices have increased for Loew's because of

         10  extensive renovations in many of their New York City

         11  Theaters to upgrade them to State- of- the- Art

         12  Cinemas.  People are dictating and mandating that we

         13  switch theaters to stadium seating, that we put in

         14  digital sound systems, that we put in new high- rise

         15  chairs, et cetera, et cetera.  These things all cost

         16  a fortune of money, and that is another reason why

         17  some of the prices have gone up.

         18                 No one seems to be looking at Loew's

         19  Cineplex and seeing the millions and millions of

         20  dollars that they're pouring into projects that also

         21  are improving the City, like what they're doing with

         22  Magic Johnson up in Harlem, what they have done on

         23  42nd Street with the Loew's East Walk.  So although

         24  prices have increased, so has Loew's continued to

         25  reinvest in this City and making tremendous gains.
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          2                 I just don't understand what it is

          3  about the price of a movie ticket that produces such

          4  outrage among politicians and media in the City.

          5  Let's look at it rationally for a moment.  The cost

          6  of going to the movie isn't rising any faster than

          7  most other local prices.  In the past 11 years,

          8  movie prices have increased about 35 percent.  The

          9  average wage of a New Yorker over the past 10 years

         10  has been a 44 percent increase in this same time

         11  period. How about the average cost of a Broadway

         12  Theater Ticket?  I don't hear Mr. Vallone or anyone

         13  pointing to the $75 and $100 tickets that are being

         14  charged on Broadway.  I see no one talking about the

         15  $5.75 cost of beer at Yankee Stadium or a $3.95 hot

         16  dog that is there.  What about those people who

         17  would love to go to the Knicks games or the Rangers

         18  games and the tickets are now $50 ad $75?  Or how

         19  about the tickets on the floor for the Knicks that

         20  go for $1,400 a ticket?

         21                 You know, if we're going to look at

         22  things, let's put things in a proper perspective.

         23  Going to the movies is still probably the cheapest

         24  entertainment value there is anywhere in the United

         25  States.  Yes, $9.50 is too much for a young child to
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          2  pay to go to the movies, but there are options.

          3  There are other theaters in the City of New York

          4  that charge five and six dollars.  There are matinee

          5  prices, there are matinee prices on weekends, there

          6  are prices that our students are being given by the

          7  theaters.  People should check into those things,

          8  you do not have to pay $9.50 to go to a theater.

          9  But if you want to go prime time on a Friday,

         10  Saturday or Sunday, you got to help pay for these

         11  improvements that are being made in these theaters,

         12  because the public is dictating it, the public wants

         13  these improvements.

         14                 If anyone would like to ask any

         15  questions, I would be glad to try and answer them.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Yes, I have

         17  some questions and some of my colleagues.  I just

         18  want to say, I am going to tell you a little story.

         19  When my parents were, you know, growing up they used

         20  to go to the movies and they told me stories, it

         21  used to be two for a nickel.  When I was a child, I

         22  used to get a dollar on a Saturday to go to the

         23  movies, and the movies consisted of going to the

         24  movies at 12 o'clock in the afternoon and not

         25  leaving until six o'clock at night because you had
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          2  two movies, you had cartoons, you had newsreels, I

          3  mean it was a whole day event, and the movies at

          4  that time was twenty- five cents, I'm dating myself.

          5                 Now, true, it's a long time since I

          6  have been a little girl going to the movies, which,

          7  you know, for twenty- five cents.  But the

          8  difference between my parents going to the movies

          9  for, two for a nickel, and then me going, it would

         10  be the same age difference for twenty- five cents,

         11  and now the children going to the movies, such as

         12  this little boy testified, for $9.50, there seems to

         13  be a tremendous gap between the time I went to the

         14  movies and the time this little boy is going to the

         15  movies, from the time my parents went to the movies

         16  for two for a nickel to the time I went to the

         17  movies.  The raising of the prices just aren't,

         18  don't add up, the inflation does not add up, can you

         19  explain that?

         20                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I can't explain

         21  inflation, Madam Chairwoman.  I can certainly tell

         22  you that I went to the movies also as a kid paying

         23  twenty- five cents and fifty cents.  I also went to

         24  different restaurants.  I went to the nickel and

         25  dime where I could eat for a quarter, you can't eat
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          2  for a quarter anymore. You go into McDonald's today

          3  and you get their Big Mac Whopper, whatever it is,

          4  that I pay for my child and it is $3.95, and as a

          5  child I used to pay fifty cents for it.

          6                 I don't have statistics with me, but

          7  I can ensure that the cost of the ticket has not

          8  gone up anymore than the cost, the average of a

          9  person's wage, the cost of food.  I remember I used

         10  to buy my child sneakers for $2.95, then I paid $10

         11  or $20, I can't buy him a pair of sneakers today,

         12  that he wants, for less than $99, but I have

         13  options.  I don't have to buy him a $99 pair, I can

         14  buy him $39 or $49.  People have options, also, with

         15  regard to the movies, senior citizens they have

         16  special rates, children under 12 have special rates,

         17  there are student cards, as I said, and there are

         18  lots of options.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I just want

         20  to add also that the prices for an adult didn't

         21  start until 16 years old when I, I mean a 12- year-

         22  old child getting an allowance, that is a lot of

         23  money for the child to have to pay full price to go

         24  into a movie theater.  I mean, a student getting an

         25  allowance, there certainly should be some kind of
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          2  compensation for that child.  I mean, as you heard

          3  today, this child, and even if he found a movie that

          4  was, you know, cheaper, and let's say he found a $5

          5  movie someplace or he went to a matinee movie.  It's

          6  still he gets $10 a week for allowance, $5 of that

          7  he has to pay to go to the movies, that is not

          8  counting if he wants popcorn.  And I realize, yes,

          9  that prices went up, but the different in the prices

         10  going up, they just don't add up.

         11                 A couple, who have children, that

         12  want to go out on a Friday or Saturday night, go to

         13  the movies, they pay $9.50 each, $19.00 for a movie,

         14  they need a baby sitter, if they want to go out to

         15  eat, they need money for that, and even if they went

         16  to eat in a cheap place, it would cost them $20, $25

         17  dollars, and if they're standing, and if they're in

         18  the movies and they want a drink and popcorn, you're

         19  talking about $100 a night to go to a neighborhood

         20  movie theater, that is a little outrageous, I think.

         21                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I just think saying

         22  that going to a movie theater on a Saturday night

         23  and spending $100 is just not reflective of what it

         24  truly is.  We can't determine what the cost are for

         25  a parking spot, we can't determine what the cost is
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          2  in a neighborhood restaurant, there are options.

          3  One point your making to me that makes a lot of

          4  sense is maybe the theaters throughout the City and

          5  perhaps maybe across the country should consider

          6  that the age limit of 12 years should possibly be

          7  raised.  Something that I would be glad to take back

          8  to my members, and it might be something that they

          9  can discuss.

         10                 Another thing though you have to

         11  remember, we simply lease product.  When we lease

         12  product to show in a movie theater, we sign a

         13  contract with the distributing company and

         14  oftentimes and many times we're dictated to what we

         15  can do.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay.  I also

         17  wanted to add that what I find a lot lately is that

         18  when you do go to the movies at night on a Saturday

         19  night, that you find that people bring their

         20  children, whether they're infants or you know, young

         21  children. Because many times during a movie, I

         22  happen to love going to the movies, and you find

         23  that you're sitting and watching the movie, you paid

         24  the $9.50, $8.50 for the movie, and you have

         25  children crying in the movie or making noise that,
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          2  you know, children do, but I think people are forced

          3  to bring their children to the movie, only because

          4  they can't afford the price of a baby sitter and

          5  that is the only way they can get to the movies,

          6  which is in some instances disruptive to other

          7  people watching the movie that have already paid the

          8  high ticket price.

          9                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Prices on everything

         10  are outrageous in our society, and I certainly thing

         11  if the resolution here today was taking pop shots at

         12  Knick games, at Rock Concerts, at food

         13  establishments, and everyone, I certainly wouldn't

         14  be taking this so personal.  I just don't understand

         15  why it is always the outrage comes with movie

         16  theaters, and if you look at the percentage that

         17  tickets have gone up, compared to tickets in other

         18  entertainment areas, it hasn't gone up as great.

         19  Take a look at tickets at a ball game, take a look

         20  at a Knicks game, how about a concert? These tickets

         21  continue to go up and up at unbelievable

         22  percentages, no where near what movie theaters are,

         23  and none of these establishments are putting the

         24  type of improvements into them that we are at movies

         25  theaters, converting our theaters to stadium
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          2  seating, putting in new chairs, putting in new laser

          3  lights, putting in new digital sound systems,

          4  everything costs money.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I just want

          6  to add to that also, I happen to go to the movies

          7  almost every week, at least one day a week.  I don't

          8  very often go to a rock concert, and I don't, as

          9  often, go to a Broadway show as I go to the movies,

         10  and all the other things that are not as often as a

         11  person goes to a movie.  A movie is something that,

         12  it's in your neighborhood, that you would go to a

         13  movie.  So to equate the theater with a movie

         14  theater, people go to see a movie.  I think that if

         15  people went to see the movies as often as they go to

         16  see a Broadway show or they go to a sports event, or

         17  the go to a concert, the movie theaters wouldn't be

         18  doing the business that they are doing today.  I

         19  mean there is a big difference in how often you go

         20  to the other events compared to how often an average

         21  person goes to the movies.  In the newspapers, every

         22  week, there is a brand new movie playing, a rock

         23  concert, someone appears maybe for three nights, and

         24  if you want to go and see that, and that doesn't

         25  happen very often.  So I think there is a big
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          2  difference in going to a movie or to a Broadway

          3  show, or to a rock concert, or to a sports event,

          4  there is a big difference.

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  The average American

          6  goes to the movies approximately 4.7 times a year,

          7  if that is of any information to you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Excuse me,

          9  can you repeat that?

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  The average American

         11  goes to the movies approximately 4.7 times a year.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  New Yorkers

         13  do it more often.

         14                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I don't have the

         15  statistics for New Yorkers, but I would venture to

         16  say that New York is not much more above the average

         17  because of the large number of people that you have

         18  here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, could

         20  you explain why Loew's Cineplex raised its price to

         21  the $9.50 within a day of completing the deal to

         22  sell off the Manhattan theaters they were required

         23  to sell by the Justice Department?

         24                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I think this is a

         25  question that you would have to address to the
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          2  people from Loew's Cineplex.  I'm not privy as the

          3  head of their association with regard to why prices

          4  go up.  As I said, in my other capacity I venture

          5  the reason for that with the additional expenses,

          6  with the additional construction, with the

          7  renovations that they're doing, with the cost of

          8  doing business in New York, but that specific

          9  question you would have to speak to the people from

         10  Loew's Cineplex.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Would you

         12  know what the profit margins of a typical movie

         13  theater is?

         14                 MR. SUNSHINE:  No, I don't operate

         15  movie theaters. I think, perhaps, there is someone

         16  here who might be able to give you those figures,

         17  but I can certainly tell you that the profit margin

         18  on selling a ticket is very, very low.  There are

         19  many, many movie theaters that lose money based on

         20  the sale of just their tickets, these figures could

         21  be gotten though, of course.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, I just

         23  want to make note that we invited the Loew's

         24  Cineplex people and they did not show up, they did

         25  not want to come.  So I just want to note that for
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          2  record.

          3                 Can you explain how the theaters

          4  decide which movie to show at their theater and the

          5  cost associated with different types of movies?

          6                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Movie theaters have

          7  what they call buyers and bookers, these are people

          8  who work for the theaters, who are supposedly

          9  experts in picking out movies for theaters that they

         10  operate.  They try to pick out movies for specific

         11  locations based on the demographics of the location,

         12  whether it's an area where there is older people or

         13  younger people, based upon the type of people that

         14  would come, and they basically know the type of

         15  people they would attract.  They then have to make a

         16  bid to a circuit, to a distributor to buy that

         17  picture, and then a contract is made with the

         18  distributor where the picture is leased to them for

         19  certain terms.  A typical arrangement might provide

         20  that they have to buy a movie for a three, or four,

         21  or a six- week period, despite whether the movie is

         22  doing well or not doing well, they have a

         23  contractual commitment to keep the movie for that

         24  period of time.  Some of the theaters in the area

         25  work on minimum flaws, where they have to pay a
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          2  certain amount of money regardless of whether

          3  they're making money or they're not making money.

          4  The terms could be very, very onerous, but the terms

          5  change based on a picture by picture basis and by

          6  company by company, it's not a standard agreement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  When a

          8  theater is part of a chain, like Loew's or United

          9  Artists, does that mean that one individual or one

         10  corporate entity makes all the decisions as to price

         11  and film shown?

         12                 MR. SUNSHINE:  No, because many of

         13  these theaters, circuits are operating, as I said,

         14  Regal, for instance, is operating 3,700 screens,

         15  Loew's is operating with Cineplex now, probably in

         16  the area of about 2,600, prices vary from location

         17  to location.  They usually are consistent within a

         18  city, within a geographic area, but prices going to

         19  a movie theater in New York will be different than

         20  going to a movie theater in Iowa or Wisconsin, and

         21  many circuits have different tiers of prices

         22  depending upon their geographical area.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, do any

         24  of these theaters have any independence in saying

         25  what goes on?
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          2                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I'm not sure I

          3  understand your question.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, let's

          5  say a Loew's Cineplex, every theater is run through

          6  the corporation, all what happens in a movie

          7  theater, let's say, in my neighborhood is governed

          8  by what the corporate company says what happens in

          9  that movie theater?

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  There is certainly

         11  corporate policy that floats down, but most of these

         12  circuits are so large that they have centralized

         13  offices in other areas of the country.  It would be

         14  kind of foolish to have a person to head up

         15  operations in New York when they're operating

         16  theaters in Texas, or if they're operating theaters

         17  in another city.  So they basically decentralize,

         18  many of the circuits decentralize and have division

         19  offices with people who make policy, but policy

         20  always does come from the top, and if policy is not

         21  working in an area, a division manager will report

         22  back and say, hey, we should change this, and

         23  changes are made.  It's not consistent from division

         24  to division.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, right,
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          2  but with the changes that are made would it, let's

          3  say, someone in, I will use my area, Forest Hills

          4  calls up and says something is not working and they

          5  make the change, does that mean it is an overall

          6  change to all the movie or just to the particular

          7  one in Forest Hills?

          8                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Depending upon what

          9  the change is, would depend upon what policy would

         10  be, I would assume with the circuit, obviously

         11  things would be changed in Forest Hills that would

         12  not be changed in Texas or Cleveland where they're

         13  operating theaters or Chicago.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Right, for

         15  instance, if someone said, well, gee, the patronage

         16  of this movie theater has gone down because the

         17  prices went up to $9.50 and we're not getting, you

         18  know, half of our, you know, clients aren't coming

         19  to the movies anymore, would that change it and

         20  lower the price?

         21                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I would have to think

         22  that as good business people, if people are not

         23  coming to the theater, they would have to do

         24  something to change that.  The pricing of $9.50 now

         25  does not apply to theaters that Loew's is operating
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          2  in other areas of the country.  I mean, this was not

          3  a policy decision that was made that affected their

          4  entire circuit, it affected their theaters in the

          5  five boroughs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, I have

          7  two more questions and then I'm going to turn it

          8  over to my colleagues.  How many movie distributors

          9  are there in the United States?

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  There are five or six

         11  major film companies that include Bueno Vista, which

         12  is Disney; Sony Pictures, which operates Columbia

         13  TriStar; Universal Pictures, which is another

         14  entity; Paramount Pictures, which operated by

         15  ViaCom; Warner Brothers, I'm sure I just skipped

         16  somebody, but those are primarily.  Then you have

         17  other companies like Miromax, October Films,

         18  Newline, Fineline.  I could tell you that the major

         19  film companies distributed somewhere in the area

         20  between 155 and 160 movies last year, if you add on

         21  with the independents, it was probably in the area

         22  of about 370 movies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, and how

         24  many of these distributors does an individual movie

         25  theater do business with?
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          2                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I don't think New York

          3  City is very typical because there are lots of

          4  alignments, but as you build mega- plexes all over

          5  the United States and you have now theater complexes

          6  with 16 to 25 screens it's important and it's almost

          7  absolutely necessary to deal with all of these

          8  companies in order to have enough films to go

          9  around.  So I would say, 20 years ago, before you

         10  had theater complexes that had these number of

         11  screens, there definitely were alignments between a

         12  certain companies and movie theaters, and now with

         13  the theater complexes they probably get pictures

         14  from every distributor.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you,

         16  Council Member Freed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Thank you,

         18  Madame Chair.  Do you know what the average rental

         19  is, because we didn't have a large theater complex,

         20  and then once we finally got a large theater

         21  complex, a lot of the Downtown audiences are

         22  probably streaking, you know, probably going Uptown,

         23  because we haven't had any large complexes Downtown,

         24  and I think part of that is because some of the

         25  theaters have failed to capitalize on a market that
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          2  was sitting there waiting to be utilized.

          3                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Not to contradict what

          4  you're saying, over the last 8 to 10 years there has

          5  been several complexes that have been built in that

          6  geographical area.  Loew's opened up a theater on

          7  Broadway, at approximately 18th and 19th Street,

          8  they opened up one of Third Avenue and I believe 8th

          9  Street.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  All Uptown.

         11                 MR. SUNSHINE:  City Cinemas is

         12  operating one.  The reason that theater is doing so

         13  well is because that theater has all of the new

         14  modern technologies that these other theaters don't.

         15  They built that theater with what they call stadium

         16  seating, stadium seating is what you have in Yankee

         17  Stadium or any arena.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Right.

         19                 MR. SUNSHINE:  That adds 26 percent

         20  cost to the building, 26 percent additional cost,

         21  but people are beginning to mandate they want to go

         22  to theaters, that is one of the reasons that they

         23  are attracting it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And not to

         25  contradict you, but to me 14th Street is Uptown.  My
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          2  point is, we have had huge populations Downtown,

          3  south of Houston, if you will, south of 8th Street,

          4  and now I know there are a number of proposals to

          5  bring in movie complexes down there, but we have

          6  been sitting Downtown and no one has capitalized on

          7  it until now, and I also think that is one of the

          8  reasons.  And, in fact, it's funny because some of

          9  this is like adding insult to injury to Manhattan in

         10  particular, because so many of the films are filmed

         11  literally in our backyard and affect our quality-

         12  of- life, and, yet, we turn around and we have the

         13  to pay an arm and a leg to just try get into these,

         14  to the theaters to see it, and I think there is a

         15  general feeling out there that a lot of this is just

         16  another rip off because the prices are so expensive

         17  in Manhattan and New York City in general that there

         18  is the feeling on the part of the theaters that we

         19  won't notice if it goes up a little because we pay

         20  such outrageous prices for everything.

         21  Unfortunately, that is exactly why we do recognize

         22  it and why people get outraged about it.

         23                 If you can stay home and pay $3.95

         24  for a pay- per view and provide your own food,

         25  granted it's not going out, but the price

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  differentiation between that and shelling out $100

          3  is obvious.  And because prices are so high in

          4  Manhattan people have a lot less, you know, readily

          5  spendable income, and I think that is one of the

          6  reasons why you are seeing people get really upset

          7  about this, and giving the amount of people that

          8  live in Manhattan and travel into Manhattan, I think

          9  if the prices were lower, you would find that there

         10  actually would be a lot more people who would go to

         11  it.

         12                 I mean you talked about the 4.7

         13  percent a year is the average in America, what was

         14  the average 10 years ago before we thought that the

         15  prices went really sky high?  Has the average amount

         16  of time that Americans go to movies gone up or down?

         17                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I would say if you go

         18  back 20 years ago, 25 years ago, more people went to

         19  the movies than presently go, but the trend over the

         20  last four or five years has been for more people to

         21  go to the movies, and more people have been going to

         22  the movies over the last four to five years.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And is that

         24  trend true for Manhattan as well, or New York City?

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I believe so.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I would like

          3  to see the figures, because, obviously, in New York

          4  we have a lot of other things to go to, and yes,

          5  they're expensive, but if it really is something you

          6  only go to four times a year, then you may be

          7  willing to, you know, put out a little bit more

          8  money to do it, as opposed to the movies, which

          9  everyone used to think of as kind of a great leveler

         10  where everyone could go to.  And yet, now, more and

         11  more it seems to become more and more elite, and

         12  that does cause problems.

         13                 MR. SUNSHINE:  The United States

         14  probably has more theaters, or maybe I should say

         15  more theater screens on a per capita basis than any

         16  other country in the world.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Is that true

         18  in New York as well?  Because I know it isn't true

         19  Downtown.

         20                 MR. SUNSHINE:  No, it's not so in New

         21  York.  New York there is a problem because there is

         22  not the amount of property readily available, and

         23  unfortunately, to build a big theater in New York,

         24  most people are building up rather than building,

         25  you know, out because of the property situation.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Well I realize

          3  that it is more expensive, but on the other hand,

          4  again, if you're going to do these economies of

          5  scale where you do put a lot, a huge multiplex, and

          6  also my assumption would have been that the reason

          7  that there was the original merging with Loew's was

          8  that, and Cineplex, was that they could benefit from

          9  economies of scale, and yet it doesn't seem like

         10  they did that, and I'm wondering if maybe they

         11  haven't taken full advantage of that or taken full

         12  advantage of being inventive in ways to reduce cost,

         13  and maybe to an extent we're also suffering from bad

         14  management?

         15                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I don't think that I

         16  can respond to that question on behalf of Loew's, I

         17  think that that is something that they should refer

         18  to.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  It just seems

         20  to me that presumably when you have got a merger

         21  like that, if you are really trying to capitalize on

         22  lowering cost because you can spread the cost

         23  around, it seems like they didn't, instead after

         24  telling us that the cost weren't going to go up, the

         25  cost, indeed, did go up, so why does that happen?
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          2                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Consolidation in all

          3  industries is a strange thing.  The purpose of

          4  consolidation is to control costs, but let's take a

          5  look, as I have been saying throughout my testimony,

          6  let's take a look at the additional costs that

          7  they're paying here in New York.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  What about the

          9  question, do you have any knowledge on reserving a

         10  seat ahead of time, which you also have the pay more

         11  for?

         12                 MR. SUNSHINE:  There is no such thing

         13  in the City of New York to the best of knowledge as

         14  a specific reserved seat in a movie theater.  They

         15  haven't gone that, what they have done is they have

         16  tried to make available to patrons to come, the

         17  opportunity and right to purchase a ticket to allow

         18  you admittance to that, and they are charging an

         19  additional amount of money, I believe a $1.00 or

         20  $1.50 for that, just as most entertainment centers

         21  that sell tickets in advance.  There are costs

         22  involved with it and it's something that is being

         23  used by most of the circuits.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And I can see

         25  the reasons, but, again, I'm worried about this move
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          2  to elite this and the difficulties of getting into

          3  movies as the prices become higher, and it would be

          4  very interesting to see the comparison between the

          5  theaters who actually do charge less and how full to

          6  capacity and how often they are versus some of these

          7  other theaters that are paying more.

          8                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well one of the things

          9  that we have seen in our magazine in doing stories

         10  and studying the industry is that when a movie comes

         11  out and if it has got a tremendous want to see,

         12  people will go and people will pay the price because

         13  they want to be the first to see it or the second to

         14  see it and they want to see it on the first go

         15  around rather than waiting until it is possibly out

         16  on video or it's possibly out on TV or pay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I have to tell

         18  you when I want to see a movie first run like that,

         19  I go to New Jersey, I take the path trains over.

         20                 MR. SUNSHINE:  And what do you pay in

         21  New Jersey?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I don't even

         23  remember any more, but it is significantly less, and

         24  you don't have to wait as long.

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  The first run in most
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          2  houses in New Jersey now are somewhere in the area

          3  of about $8.50.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I think it is

          5  a little less, but my point was it's easier, it's

          6  literally cheaper, some of us do shop around.

          7                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Listen, you all have

          8  to realize that people who are running businesses in

          9  the City of New York, our theaters, are not just

         10  arbitrarily raising prices to make more money.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Well, I think

         12  that is one of the things that we're trying to get

         13  at, because we do feel that.

         14                 MR. SUNSHINE:  It's a catch- up game,

         15  this is probably the most expensive city in the

         16  world to not only live in, but to operate a

         17  business.  I operate a business in the City of New

         18  York and I have considered moving out on several

         19  occasions because the taxes that we pay, the rent we

         20  pay, the commercial rent tax we pay, what I have to

         21  pay for labor, I can hire the same secretary out on

         22  Long Island or New Jersey for $10,000 less than I

         23  pay in Manhattan.   But, you know, movie theaters

         24  don't dictate that, and, again, I understand where

         25  we're all coming from, it just bothers me that we're
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          2  isolating on movie theaters rather than so many

          3  other segments of business in the City of New York

          4  that have this problem, and in my opinion, the

          5  problem is greater because they have raised their

          6  prices much, much more than the movie theaters have

          7  done over the last 10 years.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Well, again, I

          9  think that one of the reasons is that looking at the

         10  money that people spend on movies is, you know, is,

         11  I forget what the technical term is, I used to be an

         12  economics major, minor, but it's flexible income and

         13  they can spend it somewhere else, and discretion,

         14  but that is not it either, but discretionary

         15  spending.  And maybe people are showing that $9.50

         16  is to much and they're going somewhere else, rather

         17  if it's pay- per- view or something, or another form

         18  of entertainment, and I think that is a problem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Kathryn, you

         20  can come to Forest Hills, it is cheaper in Forest

         21  Hills, it's only 20 minutes away from Manhattan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Yes, well that

         23  is my point, why they haven't figured it out that we

         24  can go out to the outer boroughs or we could go to

         25  New Jersey.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  And, also,

          3  may I add that the $10,000 you would have saved in

          4  salaries, you would be paying in gas because you

          5  just can't get around Long Island as easy as you can

          6  get around New York.

          7                 Council Member Lasher.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Thank you.

          9  Do you have a senior citizen policy or a discount?

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I assume you're

         11  referring to, do the different circuits have them?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Yes.

         13                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I can't tell you,

         14  Councilman, what their policies are, but to the best

         15  of my knowledge, most of the circuits have a senior

         16  citizens' policy, yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Is there a

         18  way to make it, well, let me just preference it just

         19  very quickly that for many senior citizens when they

         20  reach a certain age one of the few places that they

         21  can get entertainment, and hopefully at a reasonable

         22  price, is the movies which they tend to flock to and

         23  go to see the pictures.  I was just hoping that

         24  there would be some type of a policy throughout the

         25  industry with respect for a discount for seniors.
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          2                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Any policy that would

          3  be had would be done on an individual basis by

          4  either the theater or by the circuit, and, again, to

          5  the best of my knowledge all of the major circuits

          6  operating in the City of New York all have senior

          7  citizen policies.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Okay, thank

          9  you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:   Thank you.

         11  Council Member Sabini.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair.  Let me just say that you raised a

         14  couple of issues that I have some problems with

         15  actually.  While you talked about cost going up, the

         16  price of movies since 1994 in Manhattan has gone up

         17  27 percent and the cost of living in Manhattan has

         18  gone up about 14 percent since 1994.  Now I

         19  understand that you have ancillary costs, but I have

         20  got to tell you that some of the things that you say

         21  that the consumer demands, like stadium seating and

         22  laser lights are more like stuff that you put in as

         23  a feature.  I don't go around when I go to the

         24  movies selecting a stadium seating movie, if it

         25  happens, it happens.  And I'm like my colleagues, I
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          2  don't go to the movies in the outer boroughs, even

          3  though I represent an outer borough because the

          4  security in the movies in the outer borough is so

          5  awful that I can't enjoy the movie because they tend

          6  to be the youth centers for our neighborhood kids.

          7  So if I really  want to see a serious movie I go in

          8  Manhattan.

          9                 Why is there a difference in the cost

         10  of going to the movies in Manhattan compared to say

         11  Hoboken, which is even more densely populated than

         12  Manhattan?

         13                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well, let me address

         14  the first part of your statement.  Despite the fact,

         15  Councilman, that you may not attend a movie and go

         16  to one theater over another theater because of

         17  stadium seating or digital sound or something new, a

         18  new innovation in a theater, is personally your

         19  choice.  I can tell you that studies have been done

         20  in this industry and that is why they're building

         21  theaters, that is why they're spending 26 percent

         22  more to build theaters, because studies have shown

         23  that people are literally bypassing theaters,

         24  conventional theaters to go to the newer theaters

         25  with stadium seating where you have unobstructive
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          2  views.  You put digital out on the marque on the

          3  theater and people just say, hey, it's got digital

          4  sound.  You know the most of the people that go to

          5  movies today are in the ages of 18 to 39, these

          6  people want the best in sound, they want the best in

          7  comfort, they don't want a chair that doesn't rock,

          8  they want it, they want a chair with a high- back,

          9  so people are putting this in and they're putting it

         10  in because it does attract people to the movies.

         11                 With regard to your second question,

         12  again, I do not operate theaters, I represent

         13  theaters and although we don't discuss prices and we

         14  don't discuss costs, I can tell you though that

         15  operating a movie theater in Manhattan is more

         16  expensive than operating out in Hoboken or in

         17  Queens.  Your rental costs are considerably lower in

         18  those areas, your labor costs are considerably lower

         19  in those areas, and all of these have impact

         20  operating what is charged at the box office.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Let me ask

         22  you about the marketing of the theaters.  New York's

         23  population is increasingly non- English speaking and

         24  we're starting to see some theaters that cater to

         25  non- English speaking personnel, citizenry rather.
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          2  And are we at the point now where multiplexes are

          3  going to have languages and movies in multiple

          4  languages?

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Predominantly films

          6  are distributed in the United States in English.

          7  There are times that films are put out in subtitles.

          8    I think with new technologies that are coming out

          9  now, specifically one which is a company called DTS,

         10  they're able to play back tracks on movies through a

         11  disc.  I think the time will be coming shortly,

         12  because it will not be expensive where you will be

         13  able to have normal people, regular people in the

         14  theater will be listening to English or whatever

         15  language it is, and there will be headsets where you

         16  will be able to listen to a soundtrack coming from a

         17  unit like a DTS.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Right, well

         19  my question is if you had a multiplex of say of a

         20  dozen screens, are we getting to the point now where

         21  the industry is going to be of those dozen screens

         22  have maybe two in Spanish and two in India or

         23  something like that since movies are very big in the

         24  subcontinent?

         25                 MR. SUNSHINE:  The trends in most
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          2  major cities in the United States are not going that

          3  way.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Let me ask

          5  another question, you talk about the cost of doing

          6  business and how you own a theater, do you own a

          7  theater yourself?

          8                 MR. SUNSHINE:  No, I don't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  No, you

         10  don't, you said that you thought about moving your

         11  business out of the City.  It seems to me that the

         12  theaters aren't of that mind- set.  In my own

         13  district there is now multiple proposals for a total

         14  of 54 new screens in a five block area.  If the

         15  movie business is so unprofitable, why would you

         16  want to open up 54 screens?

         17                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Competition, staying

         18  even with your competition.  Up until probably about

         19  15, 20 years ago, there was very little growth in

         20  the movie business in Manhattan, in the boroughs,

         21  most of the growth throughout, came throughout the

         22  United States in the suburbs where they were able to

         23  build large, multiplexes and mega- plexes, which are

         24  not able to do here.  Can't tell you why after all

         25  of these years that these companies have made the
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          2  decisions to, but I think part of it is that a City

          3  that was dominated by three companies, now has three

          4  additional companies coming in, and just to protect

          5  your turf, to protect your area, people are looking

          6  at additional sites to build.  I think, also, - -

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  So to protect

          8  their turf, they're not losing money, they want to

          9  actually make money.

         10                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Again, if you take a

         11  look at the financials on companies like Carmike,

         12  AMC, United Artist, you will be amazed that they are

         13  not making the type of money you think. Many of

         14  these older theaters are going to close down

         15  probably in the City as these newer theaters are

         16  made and built.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Mr. Sunshine,

         18  unlike Council Member Freed, I wasn't an economic

         19  major, but I don't think if you're losing money you

         20  open more stores, that doesn't make much sense to

         21  me.  So I don't think that the balance sheets are

         22  quite as red as you would portray them, if in a

         23  five- block area there are proposals for 54 new

         24  screens.  I don't think that they're eager to open

         25  lots more space so that they can lose lots more
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          2  money, that doesn't make much economic sense to me.

          3                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Councilman, depending

          4  upon what the real estate deal is and what the

          5  rental deal is, will dictate whether that theater is

          6  going to make money or not.  There was theater

          7  called Worldwide Plaza, which opened up about six or

          8  seven years ago, which is located in the City on,

          9  between 49th and 50th Street just off 8th Avenue, it

         10  was in a Zechenoff Building. Cineplex moved into

         11  that site, they built six screens, they were six of

         12  the nicest screens in the City of New York they were

         13  paying in rent somewhere between $2.5 million and $3

         14  million, they lost money continuously, if they

         15  weren't a big company they wouldn't have been able

         16  to keep operating, but they kept doing it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  And that is

         18  the movie theater where they charge about three

         19  bucks a pop, right?

         20                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Approximately three

         21  years ago, one of the division managers for Cineplex

         22  called up their hierarchy in Toronto, which is where

         23  the circuit was based, and said, we're losing a

         24  fortune here, let's try another policy, and they

         25  went off a first run policy into a second and third
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          2  run policy and they reduced the cost.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  They're

          4  charging $3.00 a movie, I believe.

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I believe now it's up

          6  to $4.00.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  And it's in

          8  Midtown Manhattan.

          9                 MR. SUNSHINE:  In a situation that

         10  was losing a fortune of money for years and years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Speaker

         12  Vallone mentioned refreshments in theaters.  And

         13  there has, some notoriety has come to some incidents

         14  in Queens where consumers were to borrow a term from

         15  the Police Department, stopped and frisked, but it

         16  wasn't by the Anti- Crime Unit, it was by movie

         17  personnel, and the offending Jujubes were seized.

         18  Why is it that movie theaters will not allow

         19  refreshments into a theater, when all the other

         20  entertainment that you cited, ball games and

         21  Broadway shows, you can bring pretty much what you

         22  want?

         23                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I'm not sure if the

         24  statement that your making, Councilman, is correct.

         25  You can't walk into a Broadway theater carrying a
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          2  drink.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  You can have

          4  a box of candy in your pocket.

          5                 MR. SUNSHINE:  Well, you can hide it

          6  and walk in with it.  You can't walk into a

          7  restaurant and bring food into it in your pocket.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  We're not

          9  talking about restaurants.  But you can go to a ball

         10  game with a bag of peanuts.

         11                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I'm sure that if you

         12  walked into a stadium with food, and if they saw

         13  you, I'm sure that their policy is that you can't do

         14  it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  You're wrong

         16  about that, okay, lots of families bring food to

         17  ball games.  I mean, that is absurd to say that they

         18  don't.  They don't let you bring a bottle into a

         19  ball game, because of its weaponry potential, but

         20  you are allowed to bring food into a ball game.  Why

         21  would you seize candy from people in a movie

         22  theater?

         23                 MR. SUNSHINE:  I can only state that

         24  the individual theater in question or the individual

         25  circuit has policies, in most cases the policies are
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          2  that they prohibit bringing in food into the movie

          3  theater.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  I have got to

          5  tell you when senior citizens are stopped and

          6  frisked by movie personnel and it doesn't bring the

          7  industry that you represent especially good light,

          8  and we have had several incidents like that in

          9  Queens that have made some local news, and I can

         10  tell you that the prices that you are charging for

         11  the refreshments to relieve senior citizens of

         12  candy, is, I have heard taking candy from a baby,

         13  but taking from senior citizens is, I think, a

         14  little vile, and not something that your industry

         15  should be very proud of or do.

         16                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

         18  Thank you very much.  I just want to mention that we

         19  have been joined by Council Member Fiala and Council

         20  Member Spigner and Council Member Freed, I didn't

         21  mention your name before.

         22                 I would like to call upon Joel

         23  Siegel, we thank you very much for being here today.

         24                 MR. SIEGEL:  My pleasure, thank you

         25  for asking.  My name is Joel Siegel.  I am the Film
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          2  Critic for ABC's TV Good Morning, America and WABC-

          3  TV Eyewitness News.

          4                 Among the issues that I would like to

          5  address, I was personally frightened when the ticket

          6  prices were raised to $9.50 to see a film, even

          7  though, honestly, I rarely have to pay to see a

          8  movie.  I think going to a movie is almost a right

          9  of an American kid and especially a New York kid,

         10  and it should be the kind of thing that you are able

         11  to do without thinking twice.  Many of us, perhaps

         12  most of us, probably all of us have enjoyed while we

         13  were in school going to the movies instead of going

         14  to class, and found out that we learned a lot more

         15  in the movie theater than we might in school,

         16  sometimes what was coming on the screens, sometimes

         17  what was going on in the balcony, but it is our art

         18  form, film is the 20th Century art form.  And I

         19  think that it is important for us all to be able to

         20  participate in that art form.

         21                 When we were kids, pricing has

         22  changed, I don't know what happened to matinee

         23  pricing, the daytime prices, the signs in front of

         24  movie theaters, $.50 until 4:00 p.m.  It's the same

         25  price now all day, all night, and the prices are so
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          2  high that when you add in food and drink, it costs

          3  so much to take a family of four to the movies, that

          4  the prospect of having to pay that kind of money to

          5  take your family to the movies is often scarier than

          6  the movies that they are going to be seeing.

          7                 There is another issue that affects

          8  New York City even more directly and it's not the

          9  economic issue, but I think a free speech issue.  As

         10  more and more theaters and theater screens are owned

         11  by fewer and fewer companies, we're in a monopoly

         12  situation for the movie- goer, but we're also in

         13  exactly the opposite of monopsony situation for the

         14  movie- maker, where a movie maker can sell his or

         15  her film to fewer and fewer people.  And it is the

         16  small films, the independent films and the small

         17  film makers, films like Pie and Happiness, which

         18  both made my 10 Best List last year, films like

         19  Shakespeare In Love and Sling Blade, which were not

         20  filmed in New York, but which are distributed by New

         21  York companies, that are an important part of the

         22  New York creative and cultural scene.  We have

         23  helped nurture directors like Marty Scozaian and

         24  Spike Lee, are great directors, who have started off

         25  shooting on the streets of New York City, making
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          2  small, low- budget, independent films, these films,

          3  it's one thing to make them, it's more important

          4  that the films could be seen, the films have to be

          5  seen, books have to be read, paintings have to be

          6  seen, films have to be seen.

          7                 And my fear is that when there are

          8  fewer and fewer theater owners, if a theater owner

          9  doesn't like a certain kind of subject, if a theater

         10  owner has a sweetheart contract with a motion

         11  picture studio, it becomes more and more difficult

         12  to the point where it may, indeed, be impossible for

         13  these kinds of films to find their audience, and

         14  that is something where New York City has to take a

         15  stand because, one, these kinds of films and film-

         16  makers are important to our City.  Two, they are

         17  unique to our City, and we are the national leaders

         18  in this area.  I speak around the country and people

         19  will come up to me and tell me, Charlotte, N.C., my

         20  mother- in- law is from Charlotte, N.C., she was

         21  just visiting here and she spent two days going to

         22  the movies because these are the kinds of movies

         23  that don't show in Charlotte, N.C., and we have to

         24  make sure that one day, well, that these are never

         25  the kinds of movies that don't show here in New York
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          2  City and that is a real possibility.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          4  You gave us, certainly, what you just said, you

          5  know, we had said before that we were worried about

          6  all these mergers and leaving the market very

          7  limited, and when that usually happens we become

          8  hostage to that very limited market.  So that is

          9  certainly one of our biggest concerns, and also, we

         10  had two children who testified how difficult it is

         11  going to the movies today, because if you get a $10

         12  allowance and your 12- years- old that money goes

         13  for your movie ticket and you used up your allowance

         14  for the rest of the week.

         15                 MR. SIEGEL:  Unfortunately, it's not

         16  an easy issue because of the way the movie business

         17  has changed in just the last handful of years.

         18  Jaws, which really revolutionized the movie business

         19  and is the reason that studios now, they're all

         20  trying to hit homeruns or all trying to make great

         21  blockbusters.  Jaws opened in 600 to 800 theaters,

         22  which was in an astronomical number of theaters.

         23  Today movies will open in 2,500 to 3,500 theaters

         24  around the country.  We see that here in New York

         25  when you're walking the streets and you will be
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          2  walking by a multiplex, it will be, you know, 12

          3  screens and 11 of the 12 screens will showing the

          4  same film.

          5                 Films will open, they will open wide,

          6  and if they don't do business they will disappear in

          7  two weeks.  What that does to the theater owner,

          8  theater owners, I'm just making up these numbers,

          9  but they're pretty much in the ballpark.  Theater

         10  owners will bid with a studio for a film, big film

         11  is coming, they will bid 70/30, 70 percent of the

         12  ticket price for the first week goes to the studio,

         13  only 30 percent to the theater, that number will

         14  change the second week, it will be 60/40, the third

         15  week it will be 50/50.  It's to a theater owners

         16  advantage to have a long- run, and historically that

         17  has been fine and it has been a way for theater

         18  owners to make a profit.  That has changed with the

         19  movie business and the impact on theater- goers is

         20  completely negative, because that means they will

         21  show as many times and on as many screens as

         22  possible, the biggest film to open week one, and

         23  then week two, do the same thing all over again.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, also,

         25  we have a problem, for instance, in my area, right
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          2  now, there are approximately 16 to 17 screens, which

          3  is fine and you know certainly the neighborhood

          4  enjoys it.  Now within a mile, in our area which is

          5  the Forest Hills/Rego Park area, they are proposing,

          6  at least, at least, another 35 to 40 screens within

          7  a mile radius. Of course I don't have to talk about

          8  the impact that it has on the community, itself,

          9  with the traffic and everything else, but there

         10  aren't that many movies that are being shown.  I

         11  mean, we're talking about 40, 45 different movies

         12  that have to be shown within a mile, and, obviously,

         13  it is going to be repeats of movies playing in all

         14  the theaters, and it seems like the movie industry,

         15  sort of like their charging more money and they're

         16  sort of like out of control, they're opening up all

         17  over the boroughs, the neighborhoods, and they don't

         18  care if there is one, if there is a Sony, then

         19  you're going to get the Regal now, that is coming

         20  into the City, and they don't care about the

         21  neighborhoods that they have these impacts on.

         22                 And they're going to charge the

         23  ticket price because, obviously, it is a very

         24  modern, you know, theater that they're going to

         25  build, and the neighborhood doesn't warrant those
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          2  kind of ticket prices.  In my district alone, we

          3  have a lot of senior citizens that live solely on

          4  their social security check, and for them to go to

          5  the movies, as Council Member Sabini said, and be

          6  frisked because they brought in a box of candy, and,

          7  you know, to have such a big deal made out of, you

          8  know a senior citizen being frisked because they

          9  brought in a box of candy, but if they are going to

         10  pay the ticket price, and even if they get the

         11  senior discount, and between the candy and if they

         12  want a drink, they need about $20 to go to a movie,

         13  to see a movie and have refreshments.  So it really

         14  is totally outrageous, you know, what is going on

         15  with the movie industry.

         16                 I would like to call on Council

         17  Member Freed.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Thank you.

         19  Anyway, it is interesting to hear you talk about the

         20  potential monopoly as all these films and theaters

         21  keep merging, and the question that I brought up

         22  before about how much more and more lead is also

         23  getting because it is getting so expensive, and I'm

         24  wondering if you have any proposals of what you

         25  think could potentially be done to stop these kinds

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  of mergers?  I mean, one of the witnesses before you

          3  said that Americans go to movies on an average of

          4  4.7 times a year now, my guess is that it was a lot

          5  larger, a lot more times a lot more years ago, and

          6  it isn't just that there are more, that there is

          7  more competition, like, I mean, if you pay- per-

          8  view you can go to for $3.95 and provide your own

          9  food, so you would think that they would be more

         10  competitive, not less competitive.  And as Council

         11  Member Sabini pointed out, if they're not making

         12  money why do they keep building more and more huge

         13  complexes like this, obviously, there is money

         14  coming from somewhere.  But what ways do you see

         15  that we might effect some of this as a legislative

         16  body, things we might do?  And, of course, I say

         17  this as, I think the only Manhattanite on Committee,

         18  but for us it's like an ultimate adding insult to

         19  injury because half the films are filmed in our

         20  backyard, and then we have problems going to see

         21  them.

         22                 MR. SIEGEL:  In terms of the film

         23  audience in the thirties and the forties Americans

         24  went to the movies more than 20 times a year, the

         25  average American.  So movie going is not up, it's
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          2  really down, but the reason for that is television.

          3  Before television it was the movies or you sat at

          4  home and stared at each other.  And I wonder about

          5  all these theaters that are being built, when 10

          6  years ago when video cassettes became real and

          7  virtually everyone, I mean, they became like a

          8  public utility everyone had video cassette players,

          9  films came out on video cassettes, one would assume

         10  that there would be fewer theaters being built, and,

         11  in fact, the opposite was true.  The people who knew

         12  something were building, that is when the

         13  multiplexes started being built.  And it turns out

         14  that going to the movies is a social event,

         15  depending upon the film, it is a social event for a

         16  specific segment of the population.  If it is a

         17  teenage movie, every kid in high school has to go

         18  see the film.

         19                 The new Star Wars film is coming out,

         20  that is a movie that huge numbers of people are

         21  going to have to see, and because it is a film, you

         22  are going to have to see as soon as it opens, and if

         23  you're a teenager or a Star Wars fan you're going to

         24  have to see it as many times as possible.  So I

         25  don't think we have to worry about the health of the
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          2  film industry.  Also, the film industry themselves,

          3  they do not make their money on our ticket prices,

          4  they will break even on a ticket price.  The profile

          5  of the very successful film breaks even at the box

          6  office and ends up making money when the film is out

          7  on video, when it is sold to cable, when it is sold

          8  internationally.

          9                 Hollywood for the last three years

         10  has made more money overseas than they have in this

         11  country for the first time since before World War

         12  II.  My theory about that is that is why so many

         13  films rely on special effects, they created a movie

         14  that not only do you not have to understand English,

         15  which you don't have to understand any known

         16  language to understand, it's basically it's a very

         17  loud silent movies.

         18                 But going to the movies is, indeed, a

         19  social event. As a legislative body I'm hoping that

         20  you can figure out what to do.  There is something

         21  that I don't understand, and perhaps, you can

         22  pressure the Federal Government or the Justice

         23  Department into letting you know what happened.

         24  When I studied film history, there is the famous

         25  case Paramount versus the United States, it was the
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          2  1948 Supreme Court Case where the Justice Department

          3  decided, there was the arm, the student, that makes

          4  the film, that manufacturers the film, there is the

          5  distribution arm that distributes the film, and then

          6  there are the theaters that present the film, and

          7  the Justice Department decided that that was in

          8  restraint of trade, five major studios in restrain

          9  of trade, and they, in the 1948 Court decision broke

         10  it up, and the major studios were given the option

         11  of giving up one of the three, and they all gave up

         12  owning their theaters. ABC is a beneficiary of that

         13  because the Paramount Theaters, which were sold

         14  ended up being part of an entity that became

         15  American Broadcasting Company and here I am today.

         16                 But something happened most recently,

         17  Sony is the example, Sony owns a studio, they own

         18  the distribution, and they own the theaters, and

         19  something has happened in Washington in the last 50

         20  years that has done away with that Supreme Court

         21  decision and I don't understand what it was or how

         22  it was.  And as a consumer and as a critic, I'm

         23  frightened by this because I do think that it is a

         24  free speech issue and we want as many hands as

         25  possible.  If this was happening in television or if
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          2  this was happening in the newspapers, people would

          3  be upset, but because films are viewed more as

          4  entertainment than as speech, we seem to be getting,

          5  you know, well, it's okay, and that is one of the

          6  reasons that I'm delighted that my City Council is

          7  here taking action because it is something that

          8  needs to be done.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Council

         11  Member Spigner.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  Thank you.

         13  Mr. Siegel, in commenting on the, you know, you

         14  don't comment on the economic aspect of the

         15  industry, you're mostly from the performance side.

         16                 MR. SIEGEL: That is true, but I have

         17  done stories on the economic aspect.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  Well, I just

         19  read a very interesting article in Newsday where it

         20  focused on the high salaries, these stars receive

         21  $20 million dollars per picture, not unusual, in

         22  addition to unimaginable perks that have got to

         23  reflected in the cost of a ticket, you know, it's

         24  the same way like the baseball that if we're going

         25  to pay baseball players $12 million a year as
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          2  opposed to, you know, a basketball players, I

          3  suppose when Bill Brandy got $500,000 or when this

          4  one got $100,000, it's going to be reflected in the

          5  price.

          6                 As it relates to the proliferation of

          7  screens or locations, we, right now are working

          8  assiduously as we know how to secure a movie theater

          9  in Downtown Jamaica.  Downtown Jamaica doesn't have

         10  a single movie house.  I mean when I moved to

         11  Jamaica in '55 there was the Valencia, there was the

         12  Alden, there was four, five, six, just on Jamaica

         13  Avenue, now all of St. Albans, Springfield,

         14  Rosedale, Queens Village, we have got to either go

         15  to Valley Stream or Forest Hills, so we're an

         16  underserved neighborhood.  So I can't explain why

         17  it's happening all over, because you know where it's

         18  like Willie Sutton in ways, they follow the money.

         19                 MR. SIEGEL: Yes, Willie Sutton.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  The money is

         21  there so they build in your neighborhood.  But I can

         22  recall pre- television, with a nickel and our GO

         23  Card, we got into the movies, you know, that is

         24  General Organization, in case any of you didn't

         25  know, and then every Saturday morning we got our
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          2  dime and we went to see the latest chapter of, what

          3  was it, The Lone Ranger, Tom Minx, or whatever it

          4  was.

          5                 MR. SIEGEL:  Yes, you're not old

          6  enough to have seen Tom Minx.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  Yes, so that

          8  was then and now is now.  I'm glad to see them come

          9  for people who want to, I'm glad to see it's coming

         10  to Jamaica, the more opportunities we have to engage

         11  people in some kind of involvement instead of just

         12  mildly hanging out and getting into trouble.  I

         13  don't know if by comparison whether, because when we

         14  were paying a nickel, the Daily News was two cents.

         15  You know what I'm saying, the subway was a nickel,

         16  so I don't know if by comparison how we, but I don

         17  know that it fills a niche, I think the prices are

         18  ridiculously high that these stars are getting, but

         19  then it's a market if they got a product that

         20  someone wants to pay, it's still capitalism in

         21  America.

         22                 MR. SIEGEL:  Yes, oh, absolutely, and

         23  I wouldn't, the problem is the way those prices

         24  impact on the kinds of films that are made.  If you

         25  are going to have to pay your stars $20 million and
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          2  that is the price for the top level stars, but they

          3  do get $20 million.  If you are going to have pay

          4  your director $2 million, if you're going to have

          5  the rest of the cast $5 million, the average cost of

          6  a movie because of these escalating prices, to make

          7  a movie is $45 million, to market a film, because

          8  advertising costs are also expensive, is another $25

          9  million.  So you have $70 million invested and that

         10  is a lot of money, even in Hollywood $70 million is

         11  a lot of money, so what they do is they are in the

         12  business of making films that will play to the

         13  largest possible audience, and what that means to

         14  movie goers is that movies are done down.  The

         15  movies will not tackle controversial issues, the

         16  movies will not be serious dramas, they will be

         17  melodramas.  The movies won't take risks, because

         18  there is simply too much money at stake.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  I just want

         20  to comment to the Chair, I know she is much too

         21  young to this, but there will come a time when she

         22  will recognize as we senior citizens do, there are

         23  substantial discounts.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I'm not that

         25  far away, I already received my off cards a while
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          2  ago.  Thank you, Council Member Sabini.  Thank you

          3  so much for coming in and testifying today.

          4                 MR. SIEGEL:  My pleasure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          6                 MR. SIEGEL:  Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Heskel Elias,

          8  and we have a resident here from Manhattan who

          9  actually took her case to the Justice Department to

         10  oppose the Loew's Cineplex merger, and we will be

         11  hearing from right after.

         12                 MR. ELIAS:  Hi, good afternoon.  I'm

         13  here really just to give you some facts about the

         14  film business so that we will all understand what is

         15  going on.  I started in the business back in 1971,

         16  actually in your district, I own the theater called,

         17  The Boulevard Theater at the time.

         18                 There is few things that you have to

         19  recognize why the prices where they are today.

         20  First of all, Mr. Siegel touched on one of them, it

         21  is the cost of the product is horrendous.  Back in

         22  the seventies they used to make a movie for an

         23  average of three to four million dollars, right now

         24  you're facing a race between the studios who is

         25  making the most expensive movie whether it is
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          2  Titanic or Star Wars for over $100 million.

          3                 In order to generate the income, the

          4  film companies have been dictating harder and harder

          5  terms on the theater chains themselves as far as the

          6  return.  By doing that they had increased the

          7  competition between the chains to produce the most

          8  amount of money, dollar wise for them, and that in

          9  effect had created a race to try to build bigger

         10  theaters, better theaters, better sound, better

         11  seating capacity, and higher prices.  So I would

         12  love to play a picture where I'm going to generate

         13  the most amount of income, and that is a natural

         14  cause to what is happening. There are other issues

         15  that we have to understand, when a picture opens up

         16  today, Star Wars is opening up, I had the pleasure

         17  of playing it in 1997 one out of two theaters in

         18  Queens, one of them, which is no longer there, that

         19  is the RKO Keith in Flushing, and at the time the

         20  Continental Theater on Austin Street in Forest

         21  Hills, and we managed to play that picture for six

         22  months.  George Lucas changed the tide.  Fox did not

         23  pay for the film, he went out of pocket, spent $120

         24  million. He is dictating all to 20th Century Fox,

         25  and he is releasing the picture for 3,000 screens at
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          2  one time, so the whole picture had changed.

          3                 Another issue I wanted to touch on is

          4  really the seating capacity nationally are basically

          5  the same as they were 20 years ago.  What has

          6  happened in my experience within the Forest Hills

          7  area, we have taken theaters brought them up- to-

          8  date with ADA and other compliance with the local

          9  law, and actually had to reduce seating capacity.

         10  So by building these big multiplexes that are going

         11  to have 12 or 14 screens, the seating capacity is

         12  rarely higher than 2,000 seats, which was the

         13  average theater at the time, where there was The

         14  Boulevard in your district that had 1,732 seats.  In

         15  today's market The Midway Theater has a little over

         16  1,400 seats with nine screens. So what that does is

         17  just give a better variety to the audience that

         18  comes in.

         19                 The other issue that you touched on

         20  is about the real estate cost.  I function also as a

         21  real estate developer for some of the theater

         22  chains.  The average cost per foot today, in

         23  Manhattan, is about $45 a foot.  In a theater you

         24  have a lot of wasted space, which is an idle space

         25  that is not money producing space, it's the aisles,
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          2  it's the exit doors, it's the projection room, it's

          3  the lobbies and all of that, which in a retail way

          4  they're will be able to put shelving with

          5  merchandising.  So you probably have about 25

          6  percent wasted space for that money has to be paid

          7  for in real estate taxes, insurance, electric, and

          8  so forth and so forth.  So in New York City it's a

          9  different animal, it's not like the boroughs which

         10  is the market is a little bit softer and is not as

         11  stringed as the City of New York.

         12                 The other issue that you have to pay

         13  attention to as Mr. Siegel pointed out, years ago,

         14  the way that they gave out the product was by blind

         15  bidding.  Actually exhibitors of the theaters have

         16  to blind bid for a picture that it has never seen,

         17  and whoever pays the most money get the picture.

         18  That had been stopped.  So now you have a very

         19  convenient marriages between certain film companies

         20  and certain exhibitors.  ViaCom today, owns

         21  Paramount Picture Paramount Pictures is also owned

         22  by the same guy that owns National Amusement

         23  Theaters, which has about 300 screens, and at the

         24  same token that specific individual owns BlockBuster

         25  Video.  So in an arrangement, of course, Titanic
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          2  will open up most probably within his theaters and

          3  when it goes into video, it goes to BlockBuster that

          4  has 4,000 stores across the country, and he ends up

          5  with money, money, and money.  The same thing with

          6  Sony, Sony owns TriStar, Columbia Pictures, Loew's

          7  and Cineplex, the merger.

          8                 Something else that you should know

          9  the reason of changing the name Sony back to Loew's

         10  is the acceptance by the public, it hasn't gone too

         11  well to have a Japanese trade name heading a

         12  glomerate that size.  I'm very well aware of Loew's,

         13  the people that ran Loew's theaters at the time, and

         14  I understand it to be the reason why the names have

         15  been changed from Sony back to Loew's to make it

         16  more of an Americanized company, so there will be

         17  more acceptance.

         18                 Now as far as them raising the prices

         19  the day after the merger, I think the timing was

         20  horrible, I think somebody just didn't think about

         21  it, and I think they could have waited longer, but

         22  as far as raising the prices I think you all know

         23  from the facts, you know, that everybody tried to

         24  lay out here, is to try to find an agenda where

         25  you're not hurting the certain character or the
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          2  certain amount of public like the senior citizens

          3  that you're interested with and the children.  Maybe

          4  something could be structured to appease that

          5  situation.  But within the rising costs of, when I

          6  started it was $1.65 an hour and now it is $5.15 an

          7  hour the pay, electricity is higher, everybody wants

          8  better sound system.  I know Mr. Sabini said that he

          9  doesn't care where he goes, but I think once he

         10  experiences the type of experience when that new

         11  concept of theater is there, he will become very

         12  spoiled, and it's very important to achieve and try

         13  to achieve a better presentation for the public, and

         14  we have seen it not affecting anything at all,

         15  generally 18.

         16                 We had closed one of the local

         17  theaters in Forest Hills, and sixty days later I

         18  opened up with a movie, Matrix, with less seating

         19  capacity, and the response is so overwhelming, the

         20  money had no issue at all with it, and we get calls

         21  now for a month from now, can we reserve seats for

         22  Star Wars.  So it's not a matter of how much can

         23  they pay or not pay, they still are getting a two

         24  hour entertainment there that is, you know, a

         25  pastime for what people like.  I also believe that
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          2  the theaters generate tremendous amount of sales tax

          3  for New York City, in the concession and in the film

          4  and rent, and you have to look at all these issues,

          5  all together.  It is a popular place to come to,

          6  people do it out of social.  I got out of the

          7  business back in '85 fearing videos and blockbuster

          8  and all of that and I was proven wrong, if people

          9  want to go out just to get out of their house or

         10  meet another couple or go for a drink or a cup of

         11  coffee after or before that, and we have learned and

         12  we have seen that by opening these theaters we have

         13  created a magnet for retail, there is more people

         14  more interested to be next door to the theater, can

         15  we open as late as the theater opens up, the parking

         16  is making money, the local stores are doing better,

         17  so it's vital not to attack it in that fashion, but

         18  to attack it in a different way where you are trying

         19  to get some of your message out there for the

         20  children and the senior citizens and other things

         21  like that, which I think is more important than

         22  going to the core of the issue by saying that the

         23  prices are too high. And they will be higher in

         24  Manhattan, there is no doubt about it. I mean

         25  parking a car here for $24.00 an hour answers that
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          2  question too, in Queens you can do it for $4.00.  So

          3  that is where we're at.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you,

          5  thank you very much, and I have the pleasure and the

          6  privilege of having your movie theaters in my

          7  community, and certainly you also do a lot for the

          8  community, and for that I thank you very much.

          9                 How do you feel about, as I said

         10  before, all these other movie theaters opening up?

         11  You have nine movie theaters and then you have the

         12  one on Austin Street and then there are other ones,

         13  and you said that there used to be bigger theaters,

         14  which is very true, and now you cut down and the

         15  theaters are smaller.  But what about these mega-

         16  movie theaters that are moving in and building 3,600

         17  seats and within a mile's ratio, and this is not

         18  just in my area but it is in other areas, and within

         19  a mile ratio you're probably going to have like

         20  5,000 seats?

         21                 MR. ELIAS:  Well, the ratio that we

         22  try to use is one theater, one screen per 10,000

         23  people.  Yes, an impact like that, I mean, we don't

         24  have suddenly 36 new film companies, that is not

         25  going to be the case, so the product has to be
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          2  divided. Ultimately what will happen is the better

          3  location, the better access, the better theater, the

          4  better public relation is going to win here, because

          5  right now the film companies, the way they

          6  distribute their pictures is because of a certain

          7  relation they have.  As a rule in the Forest Hills

          8  area, for instance, Columbia will stay with a Sony

          9  Theater, which is the Elmwood Theater, that is their

         10  marriage.  There is no way that United Artists or

         11  anybody else is going to be able to play that

         12  product or the Disney Product, for instance, but at

         13  the same time there is no way that Sony is going to

         14  play Warner Brothers.  I mean, there is an unwritten

         15  law basically to how the territory is divided and

         16  nobody had gone into that, so there is no fair game

         17  here to start with.

         18                 So the new players are going to come

         19  into an area that is already divided and create a

         20  problem as far as how the product will get divided,

         21  but that will the distributors, the exhibitors

         22  problem at that point.  If it's going to support

         23  that many seats, I don't think so.  I mean, the City

         24  might want to mandate the amount of screen per

         25  borough in one way or another. Yes, right now there
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          2  is a major attack on New York City, especially from

          3  a company she mentioned, Regal Theaters, that has

          4  gone through every possible location to try to

          5  saturate, try to probably take mega hostile takeover

          6  on another company and so forth, but they have the

          7  money right now so they're dictating the game.  And

          8  what has happened the landlord has been benefitting

          9  from that, because we have situations today that I

         10  can sit back and say to United Artists, for

         11  instance, well, if you don't want that deal, I'm

         12  going to Sony with that, and if Sony doesn't want

         13  it, I'm going to go to National Amusement, and to

         14  commend National Amusement that Mr. Spigner had

         15  mentioned, is they had stepped into different

         16  locations, more of the ethnic locations to try to

         17  support these areas, and they're very clever by

         18  doing that, they didn't bypass these areas, and in

         19  somehow we are involved in National Amusement with

         20  the project they want to put in Jamaica, and I

         21  welcome that, I think it is very, very important.

         22                 So I don't know if the City Council

         23  has the power and saying, you know what, you have

         24  got 20 screens for Jackson Heights, 10 screens for

         25  Elmhurst, 5 screens for Forest Hills, a million for
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          2  Far Rockaway, and that is the way it should be done,

          3  an allocation, just like you give out certain cab

          4  licenses out there, so maybe that is something you

          5  should step on.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Council

          7  Member Freed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  One of the

          9  questions I had asked before about the real estate

         10  cost and you had said that it was about $45 per

         11  square foot, so an average - -

         12                 MR. ELIAS:  I will tell you on Union

         13  Square because I happen to know, Union Square

         14  Theater has 70,000 square feet, so the rent there

         15  will be about $3 million a year.  As of today, it is

         16  one of the highest grossing theaters in the country.

         17    I would believe that the theater will gross

         18  anywhere between $20 to $22 million this year.  This

         19  is box office alone.  The concession will probably

         20  do another $2.5 million.  So on a $25 million they

         21  will probably have anywhere between 12 and 15

         22  percent profit, which that profit will go back to

         23  subsidize the cost of this project.  This project, I

         24  think, cost about $17 million.  So they have got to

         25  go in line for about five years before they make
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          2  their money back, and at the same time, at the end

          3  of five years the technology changes very quickly in

          4  this industry, a major rehab will have to happen,

          5  the technology is changing, yesterday we have seen

          6  some projector equipment that don't even need a

          7  person, there is not going to be a film anymore,

          8  it's all going to be on a chip that is going to be

          9  beamed out of Hollywood right into a machine and

         10  that is it.  So the cost are going to change, they

         11  might get cheaper in the long run, but in the

         12  beginning it is going to be just a lot more money.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Of course that

         14  may answer some of the question of why you see the

         15  different companies expanding vertically.

         16                 MR. ELIAS:  I think they are just

         17  trying to grab as much market share as they can.

         18  And just to bring you up to date, the United Artists

         19  is a privately owned company today by Merrill Lynch.

         20    So you should know where the picture is at, they

         21  were trying to do a merger with Regal about six

         22  months ago, which had failed, and that is where it

         23  is.  There is always a conglomerate behind somebody,

         24  and you're not punching really to the top, you're

         25  always dealing with the lower level, and that is
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          2  where you should take your case to, is the parent

          3  companies.  If it's Sony, you know where Sony is at,

          4  if it's, you know, National Amusement, it's ViaCom,

          5  it's MTV, it's Madison Square Garden guys.

          6  Clearview Cinemas, they're talking about a new

          7  company, you know who owns them? CableVision, it's

          8  not a small company.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Not anymore.

         10                 MR. ELIAS:  You know they're trying

         11  to buy the Yankees today.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Right.

         13                 MR. ELIAS: So I think you have got to

         14  have the agenda with the top people, not with local

         15  management, you know.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  So we're going

         17  to end up with essentially five companies that

         18  control all - -

         19                 MR. ELIAS:  And somebody on the golf

         20  course is going to sell and buy them, and that is

         21  what is going to happen, it's not going to be here,

         22  you know?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Right.  How

         24  often do these theaters operate at capacity, I mean

         25  it impossible to get in on a Friday and a Saturday?
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          2                 MR. ELIAS:  I would say we're

          3  operating at full capacity Friday, Saturday, and if

          4  it's raining on a Sunday.  On a summer day everybody

          5  likes to go to the beach.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I don't.

          7                 MR. ELIAS:  So I will give you an

          8  example, we had opened the Brandon Cinema on March

          9  31st, and we're operating now 24 days, we have had

         10  in the 416 seats, we had 18,000 people, that is a

         11  hell of a lot of amount of people.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  So week nights

         13  though, you have got show - -

         14                 MR. ELIAS:  Week nights are okay, but

         15  that is the week nights, people have other

         16  responsibilities.  Years ago, when heating was very

         17  expensive, an old fellow had told me a story, he use

         18  own The Elmwood Theater many years ago, and since

         19  then he has passed on, that his family, interborough

         20  chain at the time, had a gimmick where they would

         21  tell the people that they give free heat on a Monday

         22  night.  Needless to say, when you pack 2,000 people

         23  in a theater, you had free heat, because everything

         24  was warm.  So the nostalgia of real operators of the

         25  days of Cleopatra and all these are gone, these are
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          2  Wall Street people that are looking at numbers per

          3  capita, how much popcorn you can sell, how much soda

          4  you can sell, is it Coke Cola that is supporting

          5  National Amusement or is Pepsi that is supporting

          6  Sony, there is a lot of money out there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  What about

          8  areas, like for instance, Magic Johnson is looking

          9  into going  - -

         10                 MR. ELIAS:  Magic Johnson is

         11  basically hooked up with Sony.  They were trying, as

         12  far as I'm concerned I don't really think they have

         13  a clear agenda, my feeling is really that a PR stunt

         14  that is trying to go into minority groups and really

         15  help them out, I don't really think that it is

         16  anywhere, it's going to go anywhere, they might have

         17  few screens, but it's just a gimmick.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  And then my

         19  last question has to do with, we have, you heard me

         20  mention before about Downtown and we hadn't really

         21  had large cineplexes, now we're getting some or we

         22  have people putting in bids in a number of places.

         23                 MR. ELIAS:  Is it in a seaport area?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  They're

         25  looking into seaports, they're looking at Battery
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          2  Park City - -

          3                 MR. ELIAS:  Manhattan is still on the

          4  screen, you know, when you can figure out between

          5  tourists and everything, you got eight million

          6  people here you can have in a given day, so they're

          7  going to try to put as many as they can.  And as you

          8  see the trend is going on from a street level, which

          9  could be $200 a foot to the fifth, or the sixth, or

         10  the ninth floor, I mean, they will not worry about

         11  spending $2 million in escalators to get you up

         12  there, because it pays for them to be there.

         13                 But the reason that Union Square is

         14  doing well, you have to pay attention to one more

         15  thing, is, I developed a friendship with a guy name,

         16  Richard Bronson, which owns Record Virgin Atlantics,

         17  he is another newcomer that is going to break into

         18  the Virgin Theaters, so that is another competition

         19  that you're going to get one day.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I know there

         21  is a joke there somewhere, but - -

         22                 MR. ELIAS:  The mix between all of

         23  these retailers, and I will call a theater a retail,

         24  is the thing that makes the vital play here, it's,

         25  you know, Circuit City that is there, and it's the
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          2  Virgin Atlantic Record, and it's the theater, so it

          3  becomes an amusement center, and malls, today, will

          4  not start development unless they have an anchor of

          5  entertainment and restaurants to it, it is basically

          6  a number one issue, who is going to be your anchor

          7  as far as entertainment.  And all malls are trying

          8  to upgrade their theaters to maintain what is going

          9  on out there.  You know, you want a better fleet of

         10  airplanes at this point, so that is what they're

         11  giving them.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  The last

         13  question, because one of the things we're looking

         14  at, I know they're looking Downtown as Redford with

         15  the Sundance Theaters, now that is an independent.

         16                 MR. ELIAS:  That is correct, and I

         17  know that Angelica Center, Downtown, and that is a

         18  very unique thing, and I have tried to push for that

         19  for every borough to have that uniqueness in it.

         20  Manhattan is more of an international city so it

         21  will support it a little bit better.  It will

         22  support itself in the boroughs only on a weekend, on

         23  week days it is going to be idle seats that are

         24  going to produce no money, and there is nothing

         25  worse than going into a movie and seating and your
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          2  by yourself there, it's horrible.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Do you think

          4  that some of these theaters, though, one of the

          5  things and I guess it goes back a little bit to what

          6  Joe Siegel was saying, is, that sometimes we feel

          7  that the theaters, the films play to the lowest

          8  common denominator, where we would like to see

          9  quality films, but we get Jurassic Park instead in

         10  the special effects.  But you don't get, I mean,

         11  Shakespeare In Love was playing at the Angelica, - -

         12                 MR. ELIAS:  Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: - -  until it

         14  started Academy Awards, you know, winning awards, -

         15   -

         16                 MR. ELIAS:  And then everybody else

         17  wanted it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: - -  and then

         19  everyone else wanted it.

         20                 MR. ELIAS:  But that is the point,

         21  that is the time that the film company did not

         22  believe in that and made five prints for it, and

         23  then the next day, they went ahead, they went to

         24  print them, and printed a thousand of them and

         25  distributed them.
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          2                 But, also, the big pictures before

          3  they come out, you should know, that 90 percent

          4  after your house expense, goes to the studio.  So at

          5  the end of the year an average theater pays 48 to 50

          6  percent of the box office receipts to the film

          7  companies, and the rest of it, the other 50 percent

          8  will pay for your payroll, electric, rent, heat, and

          9  so forth and so forth.

         10                 Now the house expense have a buffer

         11  in them, they are a little bit padded, so you have

         12  another 10 percent somewhere else there.  So

         13  basically a theater will produce up to the 15

         14  percent profit, from the gross including the

         15  concession.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  So you do

         17  think that if Sundance Theaters do well, maybe we

         18  will get more quality films?

         19                 MR. ELIAS:  I would think that

         20  Manhattan is the right place to do it, and you

         21  should call Robert Redford, he might help you with

         22  that.  I think he is the right person for you, you

         23  know.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  I'm actually

         25  having a meeting directly after this.
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          2                 MR. ELIAS:  Private.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 MR. ELIAS:  You're welcome.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you

          7  very much, you certainly have given us a lot of

          8  information.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Let me just

         10  say that I wish we would have had your testimony

         11  earlier in the hearing, because you gave us answers

         12  to - -

         13                 MR. ELIAS:  I know, but Karen wanted

         14  me to be the last one.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  No, but you

         16  gave us answers that the industry wouldn't give us.

         17                 MR. ELIAS:  Well, I'm giving it to

         18  you, I have nothing to hide, I don't need to hide

         19  behind anybody, nobody is going to fire me.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  No, we

         21  usually have representatives of the industry early,

         22  because they usually are willing to defend

         23  themselves with facts, they weren't.

         24                 MR. ELIAS:  They had opposed to me

         25  coming here, so you should know that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Right, no,

          3  you were very helpful, thank you.

          4                 MR. ELIAS:  And there is no reason

          5  for me to hide the truth, we are trying to help the

          6  City as citizens and somebody who loves movies and

          7  all of that, and I want you to see the true picture

          8  here.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  I certainly -

         10   -

         11                 MR. ELIAS:  And if I can help you

         12  again, I will, you know, I don't make a lot of

         13  friends, but.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  It's okay,

         15  you have friends here.

         16                 MR. ELIAS:  Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  You're not

         18  last, I still have other people, we just tried to

         19  keep it, you know, even where we have pro and con.

         20  I want to thank you so much, you certainly did

         21  answer all the other questions that I had that could

         22  not be answered by the industry.

         23                 Okay, I would like to call on Frances

         24  Elfenbein, and I just want to say, since we have

         25  heard a lot of testimony for the last two and one-
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          2  half hours, as soon as my colleagues walk into the

          3  room, we're going to vote on the resolution, and

          4  then continue to hear the testimony.  I know the

          5  rest of it is for the resolution that we're voting

          6  on, so with that.

          7                 MS. ELFENBEIN:  Good afternoon.  My

          8  name is Frances Elfenbein.  I'm recently retired, I

          9  live in Gibbs Bay Towers, and in late April or early

         10  May, in the financial pages of the New York Times I

         11  saw a legal notice from the Department of Justice

         12  Anti trust Division concerning the merger of Loew's,

         13  Sony, Loew's, Cineplex Odeon.  I took notice of it

         14  because I live in a building that is at right angles

         15  to a new multiplex development by Sony Loew's, and I

         16  watched it go up, I watched the four- story deep

         17  hole and I watched the steel rising.  At the same

         18  time I was working on the West Side of Manhattan, on

         19  Broadway in the 50s, and I would take the 104 bus,

         20  and I saw the E- Walk Complex being built by Sony

         21  Loew's.

         22                 So when I saw the merger notice and I

         23  read in another column, that I had read, said that

         24  this was a wonderful thing in support of non-

         25  monopolistic practices, and that it would protect
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          2  theater prices because they would have to divest

          3  themselves of a certain number of theaters.  Anyhow,

          4  I counted up what was happening.  At Eighth Avenue

          5  and 42nd Street, the E- Walk Complex was going to be

          6  13 new screens, the complex being built in the Gibbs

          7  Bay Plaza was going to have 15 new screens  So I

          8  decided to write a letter, this is a request for

          9  comments and I wrote to the Department of Justice

         10  the following:

         11                  "Dear Mr. Conrad,

         12                 The proposed final judgement of the

         13  United States District Court in the Southern

         14  District of New York requiring the Sony Loew's

         15  Cineplex, et al, the merged, divest themselves of 14

         16  theaters, 36 screens, in Manhattan is no cause for

         17  joy.  The Court is requiring the divesture to ensure

         18  competition, prevent price gouging and price fixing,

         19  and to encourage varied distribution of first run

         20  movies.

         21                 Give me a break!  Loew's is currently

         22  building a 13 screen multiplex as part of the E-

         23  Walk Development at Eighth Avenue and 42nd Street,

         24  it is also in the process of destroying my

         25  residential neighborhood with a 15- screen multiplex
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          2  on 2nd Avenue between 30th and 32nd Streets.  The

          3  divesture will close 14 theaters for a total of 36

          4  screens.  The constructions will create 28 screens,

          5  the 55 screens that Loew's will be left with after

          6  divesting will grow to 83.  When the new multiplexes

          7  are added, do you really think the loss of eight

          8  screens is going to curb the monopolistic power, the

          9  merged entity will have in the market?  I don't.  No

         10  wonder they were so agreeable."

         11                 Anyhow, I received, the response of

         12  the Justice Department, and, basically, they said

         13  they still believe what they had done, I didn't

         14  really address the issues.

         15                 I have a couple of things to say to

         16  you about my neighborhood and about these pricing

         17  practices.  There are two theaters currently

         18  functioning in the neighborhood, one used to be a

         19  Sony Loew's, it is now a Clearview Cinema.  The

         20  other theater is the Murray Hill Cinema, it is a

         21  City Cinema, both have four screens for a total of 8

         22  screens.  One is at 3rd Avenue and 34th Street, the

         23  other theater is a 2nd Avenue and 34th Street.  The

         24  new multiplex theater will be on 2nd Avenue and 32nd

         25  Street.
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          2                 Since we already had 8 screens, two

          3  theaters, I don't think we were underserved.

          4  However, Sony Loew's decided to come in there.

          5  Currently, the two theaters are showing The Matrix,

          6  Analyze This, Good- Bye, Lover, Life, Shakespeare In

          7  Love, Dove's First Movies, Tango, and Life Is

          8  Beautiful.  The Murray Hill Cinema still charges

          9  $8.50, the Clearview charges $9.00.

         10                 We're now going to be saddled with

         11  this new 15 screen multiplex.  The impact on the

         12  neighborhood is enormous.  I don't know what is

         13  going to happen with pricing.  I go to the movies

         14  mid- week, first show, one o'clock, 12:30, the

         15  theaters are always empty, the maximum number of

         16  people you see are two dozen people, perhaps, that

         17  is a big number.  If we're talking about pricing, if

         18  they insist that these prices are necessary so that

         19  they can put up these bohemians, why don't we take

         20  those four days in the week, five days in the week,

         21  in the hours from one to four or five in the

         22  afternoon and do what they used to do years ago,

         23  when they had dish nights.  Let's not have dish

         24  nights, but let's have family afternoon, let's have

         25  it on Fridays, let's even have it on Saturdays,
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          2  let's offer in contrast of what was said by the

          3  theater owners' association representative, 35

          4  percent, if Sony Loew's owns 35 percent of the

          5  theaters in the City, he says that does not

          6  represent a monopoly.  We all know  you can win an

          7  election with 35 percent, depending on the fact that

          8  your competition is split into small enough

          9  percentages so that you win.

         10                 Another issue that I want to raise

         11  about his testimony is, that he said, theater prices

         12  has gone up, sporting events, I don't know what the

         13  total number of theaters is in the City, but a

         14  theater is maximum, two performances a day, live

         15  performances, and we can get half- price tickets, we

         16  can get group rates, we can't get any of that with

         17  movies.  In sporting events, there is only one

         18  Yankee Stadium, there is only one Shea Stadium,

         19  there is only one Madison Square Garden, these are

         20  live performances by skilled athletes, it is not a

         21  film that can be run again and again and again and

         22  again, so there is no comparison.

         23                 That is all I have to say, I thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you,
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          2  certainly, thank you very, very much for your

          3  undertaking and we certainly appreciate it.

          4                 MS. ELFENBEIN:  My pleasure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you.

          6  Before we hear from Local 306, I would like to take

          7  a vote on Resolution No. 650 and Resolution No. 651.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Koslowitz.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Aye on both.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Spigner.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER:  Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Freed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED:  Aye on all,

         14  and I would like to be a co- prime in both bills,

         15  please.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Robinson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Sabini.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI:  Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Watkins.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS:  Aye on both.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Lasher.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Aye on all

         24  and I would like to be a co- sponsor on both.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  The vote
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          2  stands at 7 in the affirmative, none in the

          3  negative, with no abstentions, and it is still open.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Thank you,

          5  okay, I'm going to hold the record open for two

          6  Council members that had to go to other meetings,

          7  but do want to vote.

          8                 I would like to call upon Local 306,

          9  and when you come up here, you could introduce

         10  yourselves.  I'm very sorry that you had to wait so

         11  long.

         12                 MR. DEITCH:  My name is Joel Deitch,

         13  and first, I would like to thank Councilwoman

         14  Koslowitz, you know something I have been telling

         15  everybody how to pronounce your name, and now that I

         16  had to do it, I forgot how to say it, sorry about

         17  that, Koslowitz and the rest of the Consumer

         18  Affairs' members here of the Committee.

         19                 My name is Joel Deitch.  I'm the

         20  Secretary/Treasurer, I'm the Assistant to the

         21  Business Representative of Local 306 of the Motion

         22  Picture Projectionist Union of IATSC, who represent

         23  the projectionist in the five boroughs of New York,

         24  Westchester and Putnam Counties.  And just before I

         25  continue with this, I do want to thank everyone of
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          2  you that voted on this Resolution in this way,

          3  because it is an important start, it really is.

          4                 On behalf of President Steve

          5  Gonzillo, who is presently on the West Coast, and

          6  Business Representative of Michael Goldberg, who is

          7  out ill, Local 306 was just recently advised of this

          8  meeting, but not by any formal notice.  Local 306

          9  would like to be placed on record opposing the

         10  merger of Sony Loew's Cineplex Theater Companies and

         11  the increase in the price of admission.

         12                 Local 306 warned the Justice

         13  Department in writing that this merger was

         14  disastrous to all concerned.  We also wrote to The

         15  Mergers and Acquisition Department in support of

         16  Mark Green's concerns, when he mentioned them and he

         17  was interviewed on television and he spoke out to

         18  the public.  The concerns of Speaker Vallone and

         19  Public Advocate Green were real, which were proven

         20  by the recent increased ticket prices and possible

         21  future increases, with this combined merger, Sony

         22  Loew's Cineplex controls a major portion of the

         23  movie theater business in New York, and with the

         24  renovation of the older movie theaters and the

         25  construction of the new Sony Loew's Cineplex on 42nd
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          2  Street and the cost involved in building the Sony

          3  Loew's Lincoln Square Theaters, movie prices will

          4  continue to rise, while wages continue to shrink.

          5                 Just to differ a little bit from my

          6  prepared text, in reference to some of the questions

          7  that was asked about the stadium seating, which may

          8  be a new type of technology today for people to see

          9  it from a distance without having a head in the way,

         10  that is all well and good for the younger people,

         11  but I'm getting on in age, my father is 77, and my

         12  wife is handicapped in a wheelchair, and with all of

         13  that we can't take advantage of stadium seating

         14  because we can't climb up that high, and for the

         15  elderly or for the people that can't climb have to

         16  sit closer to the screen, which means like when you

         17  were kid you would love to sit at front, your head

         18  was like this right in front of the screen, which

         19  makes it really difficult for everyone concerned.

         20                 This particular company has recently

         21  trained their managers and assistant managers on how

         22  to operate the movie picture projectors.  They made

         23  arrangements to send these people to take motion

         24  picture licensed exams, which after, at least, 26

         25  years and that is how long I'm in, was modified from
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          2  a written and practical test to just taking a

          3  written test.  As a result, these people will be

          4  running projection equipment without adequate

          5  knowledge of the equipment, being paid wages that

          6  won't reflect area standards, and putting union

          7  professional licensed projectionists out of business

          8  and not providing the paying public with a quality

          9  show.

         10                 If a problem occurs, and a returned

         11  pass is issued, you still have the high priced

         12  refreshments in your possession and when you come

         13  back another day with your pass, you buy more

         14  refreshments, as a result, the public paid a lot of

         15  money for that ticket and two sets of refreshments,

         16  and this is for the cheapest, so- called cheapest

         17  form of entertainment, which is quickly leaving that

         18  category.

         19                 I would like you all, please, to keep

         20  in mind as well, that other major movie theater

         21  chains, which are on our end of it, non- union

         22  presently coming into New York, American Multi

         23  Cinema, Regal Cinemas, and a bunch of others, are

         24  building in New York and their prices will probably

         25  increase, as well, to keep in line with the other
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          2  theater prices.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  And they're

          4  non- union, you said?

          5                 MR. DEITCH:  Right.  Regal Cinema is

          6  basically an anti- union company throughout the

          7  whole United States.  We have been promised that

          8  they will talk with us in reference to their

          9  facility that they are now going to open up shortly

         10  in Astoria right near the American Museum of the

         11  Movie Image, they have other, I think, three or four

         12  other plans, spots in New York.

         13                 Through the International President,

         14  Thomas Short, we had initiated massive pickets

         15  against Regal Cinemas in New Jersey, and all of last

         16  year or the year before, and only in the smallest

         17  areas were we able to get an RLB decision, were we

         18  able to get any sort of a contract, and even there

         19  it was very difficult, but the majority of the

         20  theater of Regal are all non- union, anti union.

         21                 America Multi- Cinemas is coming in

         22  on 42nd Street, as well.  Loew's is continuing, and

         23  with what Mr. Sunshine was here and he was giving

         24  his interpretation of the situation, the theaters,

         25  Loew's Cineplex is still building and has on the
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          2  drawing board many more theaters, at least, three or

          3  four that I know of scheduled for the City of New

          4  York.

          5                 On 42nd Street and 8th Avenue, where

          6  it is primarily a middle- income and low- income

          7  neighborhood, I believe, anyway, construction on

          8  42nd Street will have a 24- plex AMC Theater, and

          9  right across the street will be Sony's 15- plex.  So

         10  you are going to have right there 39 screens and I

         11  doubt if they are all going to be filled.  I mean,

         12  you want to call over saturation, that is

         13  ridiculous.

         14                 I mean, we're not opposed to them

         15  building, we want to be part of the operation, to

         16  provide employment to our members and all, but there

         17  has got to be some corrective techniques taken.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, what

         19  you're saying certainly concerns me, you know, with

         20  not being unionized.  I know this Committee worked

         21  very hard with Local 306 when they were trying to

         22  delicense.

         23                 MR. DEITCH:  Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  And we worked

         25  very hard, you know, to keep the licenses.  Today
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          2  we're sitting here and I hear that, you know, that

          3  eventually that movies are going to be on a chip,

          4  which won't need any projectionists.  And my concern

          5  is, you know, you're getting non- union companies

          6  coming into our City, plus the fact that you are

          7  going to do away with people's living - -

          8                 MR. DEITCH:  That's right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ: - -  and

         10  income, and that is a tremendous concern to myself

         11  and everybody on the Committee.

         12                 MR. DEITCH:  As the theater companies

         13  continue to increase the prices of the movie houses,

         14  they continue to decrease the wages paid to the

         15  union employees as well as the non- union people.  I

         16  mean I have been in attempt to organize various

         17  theaters, and I'm finding out that kids who go to

         18  school don't want to join the union even they're

         19  only making $4.50 and $5.50 an hour, they're afraid

         20  to lose that little pocket cash, and probably

         21  because the need arise that they have a need for

         22  that, and it's a shame, who can make a living on

         23  that, it's a crime.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Absolutely.

         25                 MR. DEITCH:  This is Michael Goucher,
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          2  he is on our Executive Board and he would like to

          3  say something.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay.

          5                 MR. GOUCHER:  I first would like to

          6  thank you very much for maintaining a web site,

          7  because it was through that web site that we even

          8  knew that this hearing was taking place.  By all

          9  means, I think it is a tool to encourage working

         10  people, particularly, who do not have the resources

         11  that corporations have to participate in the

         12  formation of government policy, at least, in their

         13  own behalf and possibility for our greater good.

         14  Thank you for maintaining that web site.

         15                 We, also, at Local 306 abhor and

         16  decry the admission price increases, which have

         17  provoked your resolutions and this public hearing.

         18  Price hikes of this type impact greatly on the life

         19  quality of the working people, but we have other

         20  reasons as well, as mentioned by my colleague, Mr.

         21  Deitch.

         22                 In December of 1998, Cineplex Odeon

         23  forced a lockout of one of our sister locals, 110

         24  Projectionists, in Chicago.  While this lockout was

         25  in effect causing immense economic damage to
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          2  hundreds of men and women, workers in this craft,

          3  Cineplex and Sony Loew's applied for and quite

          4  nearly achieved their joining taking great care in

          5  their paperwork never to refer to this arrangement

          6  as a merger, which might have opened unwelcomed

          7  inquiries.  However, when it appeared that no

          8  approval would come while a Chicago lockout

          9  continued, Cineplex settled with Local 110, a

         10  settlement which put many projectionists out of work

         11  and reduced the wage scales of those who still had

         12  jobs.

         13                 Then they made their empty promises

         14  to the Attorney Generals in several states, New York

         15  included, and to the U.S. Justice Department, they

         16  got their deal to merge and then they turned their

         17  attention to Local 306.  Armed now with the might of

         18  being the largest motion picture exhibitor in North

         19  America, and the single, largest employer of

         20  projectionists in New York, they came to bargain

         21  with us using the same agenda they had in Chicago,

         22  reduce labor costs by one- third.  They demanded

         23  wage reductions, personnel reductions, all meant to

         24  provoke a strike or lockout, causing great friction

         25  among our members, and now without a completed and
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          2  signed agreement, one week ago, implemented their

          3  latest offer, to spite our requests in writing to

          4  hold off until outstanding issues could be resolved.

          5                 Did negotiations take place?  Yes.

          6  Were they in good faith?  I think they had an

          7  agenda.

          8                 Last Friday, April 16th, 1999, 23

          9  working members of our union lost their jobs.  Some

         10  paying what this cartel considers an outrageous wage

         11  of $700 a week, most pay less than that.  Others who

         12  were downsized sought retirement or resignation,

         13  those 23 are actually on the street looking for more

         14  work.  These fellows who retired went unwilling to

         15  continue in a craft under such anti worker

         16  conditions.

         17                 Isn't it reasonable to assume that

         18  the loss of these jobs accrued significant savings

         19  and added profits to Sony Loew's Cineplex?  Isn't it

         20  reasonable to assume, also, that when this monster,

         21  corporate entity raised its admission price to $9.50

         22  in New York, it was fully aware of the savings and

         23  profits that would accrue to it?  Why then the

         24  audacious nationwide rise in ticket prices?

         25  Elementary, the bohemia has building plans, at sites

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            111

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  in Manhattan and Queens and in several states, the

          3  largest movie theater in its circuit in North

          4  America is expanding.  We in New York have

          5  sacrificed good union jobs here so that this giant

          6  corporation owned by bigger, transnational

          7  corporations, like Sony, Columbia Pictures,

          8  Universal Pictures, Cineplex Odeon of Canada,

          9  Segrams, can grow their mammoth, but small by

         10  comparison, theater chain to be an even bigger,

         11  largest theater circuit in North America.  But it's

         12  not a monopoly, is it?

         13                 In New York City and State, a law

         14  mandates that only a competent, licensed, motion

         15  picture operated can operate equipment in a movie

         16  theater.  This license is administered by the New

         17  York City Department of Consumer Affairs.  With

         18  disregard for the law and arguing that automated

         19  equipment renders the law archaic, several times a

         20  week, and in some movie houses every day of the

         21  week, unlicensed personnel operate this high voltage

         22  equipment.  Lack of vigorous enforcement of the law,

         23  has permitted them to do so.

         24                 Our inquiries to Consumer Affairs

         25  have resulted in an explanation that there are only
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          2  two inspectors, add to this, almost non- existent

          3  enforcement that the fine in today's economy remains

          4  insignificant.  The result is daily open and

          5  flagrant violation of City and State law, which

          6  aides and abets Sony Loew's Cineplex's agenda of

          7  corporate greed.  I would offer to you that any of

          8  the 23 people who were laid off would probably like

          9  to take one of those inspection jobs.

         10                 Let me suggest to you that there is

         11  an issue of immediate redress which could be put

         12  forward by this Committee, let me suggest to you

         13  that in addition to the powerful thrust of

         14  Resolution of 650 and 651, there is this license,

         15  which is a local issue and which could have its fine

         16  increased and its enforcement invigorated to ensure

         17  that Sony Loew's Cineplex complies with New York

         18  law.  Add to this, the agenda of these inspired and

         19  necessary Resolutions 650 and 651 to give immediate

         20  local impact to your efforts.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Well, as you

         23  can see, we passed them and it was passed

         24  unanimously, so certainly, you know, we certainly

         25  share your sentiments, and, you know, really
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          2  appreciate because you have added a little to it and

          3  I'm very happy that you were here today to testify.

          4                 MR. GOUCHER:  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOSLOWITZ:  Okay, thank

          6  you very much. Okay, this hearing is adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 23rd day of April 1999.
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         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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